
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â Charlotte Evans 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864210   Ebost: evansca1@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 28 Mehefin 2017 

 
 
 
 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam, 
 
Bydd cyfarfod Cabinet yn cael ei gynnal yn Ystafell Sirhywi, Tŷ Penallta, Tredomen, Ystrad Mynach ar 
Dydd Mercher, 5ed Gorffennaf, 2017 am 2.00 pm. i ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda 
canlynol. 
 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Chris Burns 

PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Tudalennau 
  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb  
 

 
2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 

 
  

 
 

Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau personol 
a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â Deddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr a 
Swyddogion. 
 
I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
 
3  Cynhaliwyd y Cabinet ar 21ain Mehefin 2017.  

1 - 6 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus



 

 

 
I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiad(au) canlynol y mae angen penderfyniadau gweithredol arnynt: - 
 
4  Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru Llywodraethu Da Wrth Benderfynu ar Newidiadau Gwasanaeth 

Sylweddol  - Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili  
7 - 22 

 
5  Adolygiad Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru - Cynllunio Arbedion (Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili)  

23 - 42 
 

6  Alldro Dros Dro ar gyfer 2016/17  
43 - 54 

 
7  Ysgol Rhymni 3-18: Canlyniad o'r Hysbysiad Statudol  

55 - 60 
 

8  Cau Canolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol Cyfnod Allweddol 3 ar gyfer plant gydag Anawsterau 
Ymddygiadol, Emosiynol a Chymdeithasol yn Ysgol Trecelyn: Canlyniad y Broses Ymgynghori 
Ffurfiol.  

61 - 64 
 

 
Cylchrediad: 
 
Cynghorwyr 
 C.J. Cuss, N. George, C.J. Gordon, Mrs B. A. Jones, P.A. Marsden, S. Morgan, L. Phipps, D.V. Poole a 
Mrs E. Stenner,  
 
A Swyddogion Priodol. 



  

 

 

 
CABINET 

 

COFNODION Y CYFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD YN NHŶ PENALLTA, TREDOMEN 

AR DDYDD MERCHER, 21AIN MEHEFIN 2017 AM 2.00 P.M. 
 

 
YN BRESENNOL  

 
Y Cynghorydd D.V. Poole - Cadeirydd 

 
Cynghorwyr: 

 
 C.J. Cuss (Gofal Cymdeithasol a Lles), N. George (Gwasanaethau'r Gymdogaeth), C.J. 

Gordon (Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol), Mrs B.A. Jones (Cyllid, Perfformiad a Llywodraethu), 
P.A.Marsden (Addysg a Chyflawniad), S. Morgan (Economi, Isadeiledd a Chynaliadwyedd), L. 
Phipps (Cartrefi a Lleoedd) a Mrs E. Stenner (Yr Amgylchedd a Diogelwch y Cyhoedd).  

 
 

Ar y cyd gyda: 
 
 C. Burns (Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro), C. Harrhy (Cyfarwyddwraig Corfforaethol - Cymunedau), 

N. Scammell (Cyfarwyddwraig Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol Dros Dro a Swyddog Adran 151) 
a D.Street (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol). 
 

Hefyd yn Bresennol: 
 

 D. Harteveld (GCA), K. Bevan (GCA), K. Cole (Prif Swyddog Addysg), J. Carpenter (Treth y 
Cyngor a Rheolwr Ardrethi Annomestig Busnes), R. Hartshorn (Pennaeth Diogelwch y 
Cyhoedd), A. Rees (Uwch Swyddog Polisi), C. Edwards (Rheolwr Iechyd yr Amgylchedd) a C. 
Evans (Swyddog Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor). 

 
  
1.  YMDDIHEURIADAU DROS ABSENOLDEB 
 

Nid oedd unrhyw ymddiheuriadau dros absenoldeb 
 
 
2. DATGANIADAU O DDIDDORDEB 
 
 Fe wnaeth y Cynghorydd S. Morgan ddatgan diddordeb yn Eitem Agenda 5 (Cyllid Grant 

Rhyddhad Ardrethi Annomestig Busnes- LlC Cynllun ‘Rhyddhad Ardrethi’r Stryd Fawr’ 
2017/18).  Mae manylion wedi eu cofnodi gyda'r eitem berthnasol. 

 
 
3. CABINET – 7FED MEHEFIN 2017 
 

PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 7fed Mehefin 
2017 (rhifau cofnod. 1-7) a'u llofnodi fel cofnod cywir.   
 
 
 

Page 1

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 3



  

 
 

 MATERION SYDD ANGEN PENDERFYNIADAU GWEITHREDOL 
 
 
4. CYNLLUN BUSNES GWASANAETH CYFLAWNI ADDYSG (GCA) 2017-2020  
 

Fe wnaeth yr adroddiad, a gafodd ei gyflwyno i Bwyllgor Craffu Addysg Gydol Oes ar y 7fed 
Mehefin 2017, ddarparu’r Cabinet gyda diweddariad ar Gynllun Busnes Gwasanaeth 
Cyflawniad Addysg (GCA) 2017-2020 ac Ychwanegiad penodol Caerffili (Ebrill 1af 2017 – 
Mawrth 31ain 2018).  Mae’n ofynnol i GCA gyflwyno eu Cynllun Busnes i Lywodraeth Cymru 
ac mae’n ofynnol  i’r Cabinet ei arnodi. 
 
Roedd yr adroddiad yn amlinellu Cynllun Busnes GCA De Ddwyrain Cymru 2017-2020, sy’n 
gosod y blaenoriaethau, rhaglennu a’r canlyniadau i gael eu cyflawni gan y GCA ar ran 
Consortiwm De Ddwyrain Cymru. Mae’r adroddiad hefyd yn canolbwyntio ar ganlyniadau 
disgwyliedig yng Nghaerffili a bydd yr holl raglenni penodol a fydd yn cael eu gweithredu yn 
ystod 2017-2018, a gynhwysir yn Ychwanegiad yr Awdurdod Lleol (ALl), yn atodol?i’r 
adroddiad. 
 

 Diolchodd Aelodau'r Cabinet i'r Swyddogion am yr adroddiad a chafwyd trafodaeth.  Gan 
nodi'r tablau o fewn y Cynllun Busnes, ceisiodd Aelod am eglurhad ar y targedau, gyda rhai yn 
cael eu lleihau o flynyddoedd blaenorol a gofynnwyd fod drafftiau yn y dyfodol yn manylu o 
amgylch y broses.  Derbyniodd y Swyddogion yr argymhellion ac fe wnaethant amlygu 
fod,angen cael cynllun  mwy syml. Yn ychwanegol at hyn, nodwyd y byddai rhai targedau yn 
cael eu gosod yn rhanbarthol, ac eraill, er enghraifft, targedau ar gyfer Cyfnod Allweddol 2 a 3 
yn cael eu gosod yn dilyn asesiad athro/athrawon.   Dilynwyd hyn gan drafodaeth o amgylch y 
broses o osodtargedau a nododd Cabinet, tra bod Cyrff Llywodraethu ysgolion yn arwyddo’r 
targedau, bod gan y Cabinet bwerau i osod targedau newydd, os ydynt yn teimlo fod hynny’n 
angenrheidiol. 

 
 Fe wnaeth Aelod ofyn am wybodaeth ychwanegol ar y cymorth a gynigir i’r Ysgol a’r niferoedd 

sy’n derbyn lle.  Nodwyd fod nifer o ddulliau yn cael eu gwneudyn dibynnu ar yr angen.  Mae 
Pecyn Cymorth Sutton yn un dull, sy’n darparu deunyddiau cymorth ac ymrwymiadau 
allweddol i ddysgwyr o gefndir dan anfantais.  Yn ychwanegol, nodwyd fod amrywiannau wrth 
ystyried Prydau Ysgol Am Ddim, gyda gwahaniaethau penodol yng Nghyfnod Allweddol 4.  
Cytunodd y Swyddogion bod hyn yn faes o her a bod angen cau’r bwlch, gweithio gydag 
ysgolion a bod Cyrff Llywodraethu i gael eu cynnal er mwyn ystyried y modd y mae cyllid 
ysgolion yn cael ei ddyrannu i gau'r bwlch. 

 
 Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhellionynyr adroddiad yn 
 cael eu cymeradwyo.  Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo. 
 

 PENDERFYNWYD am y rhesymau a gynhwysir yn adroddiad y Swyddog: - 
 
 (i) bod y blaenoriaethau a gynhwysir o fewn y Cynllun Busnes a’i Ychwanegiad ac 

  effaith  y cynllun ar y cymunedau o fewn yr ardal awdurdod lleol, yn cael eu 
  nodi;  

 
 (ii) bod cynnwys Cynllun Busnes GCA yn cael ei gadarnhau a’i gyflwyno i  

  Lywodraeth Cymru. 
 

5. CYLLID GRANT ANNOMESTIG CENEDLAETHOL CYFRADD RHYDDHAD – CYNLLYN  
 RHYDDHAD ARDRETHI’R  STRYD FAWR 2017/18 LLC 
 
 Fe wnaeth y Cynghorydd S. Morgan ddatgan diddordeb yn yr eitem hon fel perchennog eiddo 
 a gadawodd y cyfarfod yn ystod ei ystyriaeth.  

 

Page 2



  

 Mae Llywodraeth (LlC) Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a Llywodraeth Leol wedi cyhoeddi 
cyfradd newydd annomestig dros dro yn genedlaethol, fe'i gelwir hefyd yn ardrethi busnes, 
'Cynllun Rhyddhad Ardrethi'r Stryd Fawr' ar gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol 2017-2018 yn unig.  
Bydd y rhyddhad a rhoddwyd gan yr Awdurdod o dan y cynllun newydd i fod i gael ei ad-dalu 
gan LlC drwy’r grant a therfyn arian parod ond, cyn bydd unrhyw ryddhad yn cael eu dyfarnu, 
rhaid i’r Awdurdod ystyried a mabwysiadu’r cynllun newydd.   
 
Nododd Cabinet, er mwyn cymhwyso ar gyfer y gyfradd rhyddhau, mae’r cyfarwyddyd yn nodi 
y bydd yn benderfyniad yr awdurdodau lleol sut maent yn dymuno gweinyddu’r  Cynllun.  Mae 
LlC yn credu y gallai rhyddhad ardrethi gael eu cymhwyso yn uniongyrchol i filiau trethdalwyr 
cymwys'; fodd bynnag, os na fydd y llwybr hwn yn cael ei ddilyn, mae'r canllawiau yn nodi 
swm sylweddol o destun y mae’n ei argymell dylai gael eu hymgorffori mewn llythyr dyfarnu / 
ffurflen yn nodi'r goblygiadau Cymorth Gwladwriaethol.  Ar ben hynny, os bydd trethdalwr 
cymwys yn credu nad yw ef neu hi yn gymwys i dderbyn y rhyddhad, rhaid i ddatganiad o 
fewn y llythyr / ffurflen gael ei llofnodi a'i dychwelyd i'r awdurdod.  O ganlyniad, byddai cynllun 
sy'n seiliedig ar gais yn sicrhau byddai defnydd presennol yr eiddo yn cael ei gadarnhau yn 
ysgrifenedig gan y trethdalwr (pwynt 16 o'r canllawiau LlC sy'n cyfeirio at 'i brofi ar ddefnydd 
yn hytrach na galwedigaeth'); yn ail, allai datganiad ynghylch Cymorth Gwladwriaethol gael eu 
hymgorffori yn y ffurflen gais ac, yn drydydd, dibynnu ar geisiadau yn hytrach na dyfarnu 
rhyddhad yn uniongyrchol gall leihau siawns y dylai trethdalwyr a allai fod yn gymwys golli 
allan ar y cynllun.   
 
Fe wnaeth yr Aelodau ddiolch i’r Swyddog am yr adroddiad a dilynwyd hyn gan drafodaeth, 
nodwyd nad oedd y ffurflen gais wedi cael ei ddarparu gyda’r adroddiad. Esboniodd 
Swyddogion y bydd y ffurflen yn ailadrodd y Cynllun Rhyddhad Ardrethi Manwerthu er mwyn 
symleiddio'r ffurflenni sydd ar gael a'i wneud mor hawdd â phosibl i'r defnyddiwr. 
 
Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad yn 
cael ei gymeradwyo.  Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo. 
 

  PENDERFYNWYD am y rhesymau a gynhwysir yn adroddiad y Swyddog: - 
 
  (i) yn amodol ar y cynnig grant terfynol a dderbynnir, mae’r Cynllun Rhyddhad 

  Ardrethi'r Stryd Fawr’ 2017-2018 yn cael ei fabwysiadu ar unwaith yn unol â’r 
  arweiniad a osodwyd allan yn Atodiad 1 o’r adroddiad a'r darparwyr o adran 
  47(1)(a) ac adran 47 (3) o Ddeddf Cyllid Llywodraeth Leol 1988.  Bydd y  
  Pennaeth Cyllid Corfforaethol dros dro yn defnyddio ei bwerau i wobrwyo’r 
  rhyddhad ; 

 
  (ii) mae’r cynnig i ofyn am ffurflen gais i gael ei gwblhau yn llawn gan bob  

  drethdalwr cymwys ar gyfer pob eiddo cymwys i gael ei fabwysiadu. 
 
 
6. ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL SAFNOAU'R IAITH GYMRAEG 2014-2015 
  
 Fe wnaeth adroddiad hysbysu'r Cabinet am y cynnydd a wnaed yn ystod y flwyddyn ariannol 

2016-2017 yn erbyn pedwar maes penodol o waith iaith Gymraeg, fel sy'n ofynnol o dan y 
fframwaith rheoleiddio ar gyfer gweithredu'r Safonau Iaith Gymraeg. 

 
 Nodwyd bod gan y Cyngor Ddyletswydd Statudol i gynhyrchu adroddiad monitro blynyddol ar 

weithredu'r Iaith Gymraeg a gyhoeddwyd o dan y ddeddfwriaeth bresennol, a fydd yn cael ei 
gyhoeddi ar-lein erbyn y dyddiad cau sef 30 Mehefin 2017 fel sy'n ofynnol gan Safon Iaith 
Gymraeg 158. 

 
 Nododd yr Aelodau fod yr adroddiad blynyddol yn dangos fod y nifer o gwynion a dderbyniwyd  

wedi lleihau.  Serch hynny, mae 5 archwiliad ffurfiol Comisiynydd yr Iaith Gymraeg wedi cael 
ei dderbyn.  Roedd yr adroddiad yn manylu’r cwynion a nodwyd nad oedd  2 ohonynt yn 
ddilys, mae 2 wedi cael eu derbyn fel rhai dilys ac 1 yn rhannol ddilys.   Mae cyfanswm o 304 

Page 3



  

o swyddi wedi cael eu categoreiddio fel Cymraeg dymunol, 4 o’r rheini wedi cael eu rhoi yn 
Gymraeg hanfodol ac mae ffigyrau hyfforddiant yn aros yr un peth, gyda 59 o ddysgwyr. 

 
 Mynegodd y Cabinet eu diolch dwysaf i'r swyddogion am waith rhagorol sydd wedi'i 

mewnbynu er mwyn gweithredu a chynnal y safonau a darparu'r adroddiad cadarnhaol. 
  
 Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad yn 

cael ei gymeradwyo.  Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo. 
 
 PENDERFYNWYD am y rhesymau a gynhwysir yn adroddiad y Swyddogion, i nodi yr 

adroddiad a chyhoeddi'r Adroddiad Blynyddol 2016-2017 fel cofnod o gynnydd tuag at, a 
chydymffurfio â Safonau’r Iaith Gymraeg berthnasol yn cael eu cymeradwyo. 

 
 
7. ADRODDIAD ASIANTAETH SAFONAU BWYD AR WASANAETHAU GORFODI CYFRAITH 

BWYD CAERFFILI 
 
 Mae'r adroddiad, a gafodd ei ystyried gan y Pwyllgor Craffu Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Lles 

ar 21ain Mawrth 2017, a gyflwynwyd i'r Aelodau gyda’r canfyddiadau o archwiliad dan 
arweiniad yr Asiantaeth Safonau Bwyd (FSA), mewn perthynas â gwasanaethau gorfodi 
cyfraith bwyd Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili.  Mae'r rhain yn cynnwys diogelwch bwyd, 
safonau bwyd a swyddogaethau rheoli clefyd trosglwyddadwy o fewn Diogelwch y Cyhoedd. 

 
 Fe wnaeth yr archwiliad, a gafodd ei gynnal ym mis Ionawr 2016, arholi trefniadau Cyngor 

Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili ar gyfer trosglwyddiad rheoli bwyd swyddogol. Derbyniwyd yr 
adroddiad terfynol ar 21ain Chwefror 2017.   

 
 Nododd y Cabinet y chwe chryfder allweddol, sy'n cynnwys Ymyriadau Hylendid Bwyd / 

Adroddiadau Arolygu, Cwynion Bwyd a Sefydliadau Bwyd, Cyngor i Fusnesau, Cronfa Ddata 
Sefydliadau Bwyd, Samplo Hylendid Bwyd a Chyswllt. Darparodd Swyddogion fanylion am y 
meysydd i’w gwella, a oedd yn cynnwys Awdurdodaeth Swyddogion, Amlder Ymyrraeth 
Hylendid Bwyd a Safonau Bwyd, Ymyriadau Safonau Sefydliadau Bwyd ac Ymyriad 
Arolygiadau Safonau Bwyd/Adroddiadau Arolygu. 

  
 Yn ogystal, nododd y Cabinet, o ran yr Amleddau Ymyrraeth Hylendid Bwyd a Safonau Bwyd, 

roedd hyn yn cyfeirio at yr awdurdod yn peidio cynnal ymyriadau hylendid risg bwyd isel a 
safonau bwyd risg isel a chanolig ar yr amleddau sylfaenol sy'n ofynnol gan Gôd Ymarfer 
Cyfraith Fwyd.  Esboniodd y Swyddogion fod sefydliadau risg isel yn cynnwys Fferyllfeydd 
neu Dafarndai nad ydynt yn gweini bwyd ayb., a thra bod rhain yn cael eu gwneud, mae rhai 
achosion lefel uchel wedi cael blaenoriaeth. Serch hynny, sicrhawyd i’r Aelodau, ers yr 
Archwiliad, fod nifer o sefydliadau ers hynny wedi cael eu hasesu a rhagwelir bydd yr holl 
sefydliadau risg isel yn derbyn ymweliad erbyn diwedd y flwyddyn. 

 
 Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad yn 

cael ei gymeradwyo.  Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo. 
 
  PENDERFYNWYD fod, ar fodlonrwydd fod y gwasanaeth a ddarperir gydag adnoddau 

 digonol, am y rhesymau a gynhwysir yn adroddiad y Swyddog, rhaid i’r Archwiliad 
 ddarganfyddiadau Asiantaeth Safonau Bwyd  gael eu nodi a’r Cynllun Gweithredu 
 arfaethedig gael ei gymeradwyo. 

 
 

Terfynwyd y cyfarfod am 3.10 p.m. 
 

Cymeradwywyd a llofnodwyd fel cofnod cywir yn amodol ar unrhyw gywiriadau a wnaed yn y 
cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar y 7fed Mehefin, 2017. 

 
 

Page 4



  

____________________ 
CADEIRYDD 

Page 5



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 6



 
 

 
 

 

 

CABINET – 5TH JULY 2017 
 

SUBJECT: WAO GOOD GOVERNANCE WHEN DETERMINING SIGNIFICANT 
SERVICE CHANGES – CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES & S151 OFFICER 
 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To present Cabinet with the Wales Audit Office (WAO) report on Good Governance when 

determining significant service changes.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 In February 2017 the Authority received a report from the WAO in respect of good governance 

when determining significant service changes.  This report focused on a review of the 
effectiveness of Caerphilly County Borough Council’s (the Council) governance arrangements 
for determining significant service changes.  WAO define this as any significant change in 
delivering services and/or any significant change in how services are experienced by external 
service users.  

 
2.2 The review concluded that the Council’s approach to service change has been proportionate 

to the scale of changes it has made to date and it is strengthening its arrangements to 
prepare for potentially more significant future changes.  

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 Good governance is essential for the effective stewardship of public money and the continued 

delivery of efficient and trusted public services.   
 
3.2 This report and its recommendations contribute to the following Well-being Goal within the 

Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015: 
 

• A resilient Wales 
 
3.3 Good governance leads to sound and robust decision making that makes a public body more 

resilient.   
 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 The WAO report on ‘Good governance when determining significant service changes’ was 

issued February 2017 and is attached as Appendix 1.  Due to the pre-election period, local 
elections and establishment of a new Cabinet the report was deferred until early July.   

 
  

Page 7

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 4



4.2 This WAO report and the assessment was based on a review undertaken during the period 
September to November 2016, WAO looked at aspects of decision-making arrangements in 
relation to a range of significant service change proposals.  The examples of service changes 
WAO looked at included: 

 

 Ceasing the mobile customer service centre; 

 Independent sector domiciliary care – elderly - review of shopping service; 

 Parks and playing fields – cessation of pitch marking and handing over responsibilities to 
the clubs; 

 Closure of Bedwas swimming pool on Sundays; 

 Closure of civic amenity sites for one day a week; 

 Review of library opening hours; and 

 Review of day centre provision. 
 
 WAO did not look in detail at each of the individual service change decisions, but rather used 

them as examples to draw from and inform how the Council goes about making decisions in 
relation to service changes.  

 
4.3 The review concluded that the Council’s approach to service change has been proportionate 

to the scale of changes it has made to date and it is strengthening its arrangements to 
prepare for potentially more significant future changes.  

 
4.4 The WAO review concluded that there were a number of proposals for improvement.   
 

Proposal(s) for improvement 

The Council’s governance arrangements could be strengthened by: 
 
P1 Introducing a more systematic and transparent arrangement for monitoring the impact 
 of service changes. 
P2 More clearly setting out in reports how feedback from engagement and consultation 
 has been taken account of in developing proposals for service change. 

 
4.5 The officer response to the above proposals for improvement are as follows:- 
 
 P1 – As part of the Council Report in February each year to establish a balanced budget for 

the next financial year an Appendix will be attached to this report listing all the service 
changes due to take place in the next financial year.  This Appendix will include a description 
of the service,  estimated date for implementation of changes and the relevant responsible 
Senior Officer and Cabinet Member.  This list will be reviewed half yearly in the first instance 
by Corporate Management Team, followed by a report to Cabinet during the Autumn of each 
year as part of the mid-year budget monitoring report.  This report will provide a commentary 
on any adverse impacts not originally envisaged/reported with actions where possible to 
address or mitigate these variations. 

 
 P2 – Final reports to Cabinet/Council in respect of proposals for service change will describe 

in the relevant section titled “Consultations” how any consultation or engagement has 
influenced/changed the final proposal.  

 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 This report contributes to the Well-being Goals as set out in Links to Strategy above.  It is 

consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 
principle in the Act as detailed below:- 

 

 Long Term – Good governance and decision making will take account of long term 
consequences/benefits of service changes.  

 Prevention – Good governance and decision making should consider how service 
changes stop a problem worsening.  

Page 8



 Collaboration – Opportunities to collaborate should be considered where appropriate when 
service changes are determined, where there is a viable business case.  

 Involvement – Proposed service changes should be subject to consultation and 
engagement.  There should be evidence that the feedback has been considered prior to 
the decision being made.  

 Integration – not applicable.  
 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 This report is for information purposes so the Council’s Equalities Impact Assessment process 

does not need to be applied.  
 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no direct personnel implications arising from this report. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no consultation responses that have not been reflected in this report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Cabinet is asked to:- 
 
10.1.1 Consider and comment upon the content of the WAO report. 
 
10.1.2 Note the officer response to the WAO proposals for improvement as detailed in paragraph 

4.5.  
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To ensure that Cabinet is aware of the review work undertaken by the WAO and the resultant 

findings, conclusion and proposals for improvement.  
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Local Government Acts 1972 and 2003.  
 
 
Author:  Nicole Scammell, Acting Director of Corporate Services & S151 Officer 
  Tel:  01443 863031  E-mail:  nicolescammell@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Corporate Management Team 
 Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer 
 Cllr Barbara Jones, Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance and 

Governance 
 Rob Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection 
 Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
 Stephen Pugh, Corporate Communications Manager  

Page 9

mailto:nicolescammell@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
Background Papers: 
WAO File – Reviews 2016/17 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 WAO Report – Good governance when determining significant service changes – 

 Caerphilly County Borough Council – February 2017 
 

Page 10



 

Good governance when determining 
significant service changes – 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Audit year: 2016-17 

Date issued: February 2017 

Document reference: 118A2017 

 

Page 11



 

 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention  
is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 
authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 

General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 
disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 

info.officer@audit.wales. 

The team who delivered the work comprised Sara-Jane Byrne, Tim Buckle and Non Jenkins under 
the direction of Jane Holownia. 

 

 

Page 12



Contents 

Page 3 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 

The Council’s approach to service change has been proportionate to the scale of 
changes it has made to date and it is strengthening its arrangements to prepare for 
potentially more significant future service changes. 

 

Summary report  

Summary 4 

Proposals for improvement 5 

Detailed report 

The Council has a clear set of principles for determining service change that  
support its current vision, but it recognises the need to review its strategic  
vision and the principles 6 

The Council continues to strengthen its governance and accountability  
arrangements and these have the potential to assist it to deliver future  
service change effectively 7 

Options appraisals are generally sound and improving but there is a need for  
more consistency in the quality of information included 8 

The Council’s arrangements to engage stakeholders in service changes have  
been effective 9 

The Council monitors the impact of service changes but arrangements are  
not systematic or transparent 10 

In recent years, the Council has strengthened its governance and  
decision-making arrangements, and has responded positively to  
our audit reports 10 

 

Page 13



Summary report 

Page 4 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 

Summary 
1 Governance is about how public bodies ensure that they are doing the right things, 

in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and 
accountable manner. It comprises the systems and processes, and cultures and 
values, by which public bodies are directed and controlled and through which they 
account to, engage with and, where appropriate, lead their communities.1  

2 Good governance is essential for the effective stewardship of public money and the 
continued delivery of efficient and trusted public services. The current financial 
climate and reduced settlements for local government as well as rising demand for 
some services mean that all councils are likely to continue to need to make 
decisions regarding the future configuration and level of service delivery. It is 
appropriate that public bodies continuously seek to improve. Small, incremental 
changes to service delivery are made at a managerial and operational level as part 
of normal, operational decision-making. However, good governance supported by 
effective planning and rigorous processes is critical when determining significant 
service changes. Such decisions are often controversial, generate considerable 
local interest and can have significant impacts on the individuals and groups 
affected.  

3 From April 2016, councils are required to comply with the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act and associated Statutory Guidance. The Statutory 
Guidance states that: ‘Together, the seven wellbeing goals and five ways of 
working provided by the Act are designed to support and deliver a public service 
that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs.’2 This legislation emphasises the importance 
of effective governance in achieving wellbeing goals.  

4 The focus of this review is on the effectiveness of Caerphilly County Borough 
Council’s (the Council) governance arrangements for determining significant 
service changes. We define this as any significant change in delivering services 
and/or any significant change in how services are experienced by external service 
users. This could include, for example, significant changes to the way the service is 
delivered, the level of service provided, the availability of the service or the cost of 
the service.  

5 Taking the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) 
revised framework for ‘Delivering good governance in local government’ as an 
appropriate standard, this review provides the Council with a baseline, from which 
to plan further improvement. In this assessment, undertaken during the period 

 
1 CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 
2007 

2 Welsh Government, Shared Purpose: Shared Future, Statutory guidance on the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Page 14



 

Page 5 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 

September to November 2016, we looked at aspects of decision-making 
arrangements in relation to a range of significant service change proposals. The 
examples of service changes we looked at included:  

• ceasing the mobile customer service centre; 

• independent sector domiciliary care – elderly – review of shopping service;  

• parks and playing fields – cessation of pitch marking and handing over 
responsibilities to the clubs; 

• closure of Bedwas swimming pool on Sundays; 

• closure of civic amenity sites for one day a week;  

• review of library opening hours; and   

• review of day centre provision.   

We did not look in detail at each of the individual service change decisions, but 
rather used them as examples to draw from and inform how the Council goes 
about making decisions in relation to service changes.  

6 In this review, we concluded that the Council’s approach to service change has 
been proportionate to the scale of changes it has made to date and it is 
strengthening its arrangements to prepare for potentially more significant 
future service changes.   

Proposals for improvement  

Exhibit 1: proposals for improvement 

The table below sets out the areas of improvement identified through our review. 

Proposal(s) for improvement 
The Council’s governance arrangements could be strengthened by: 
P1  Introducing a more systematic and transparent arrangement for monitoring the 

impact of service changes. 
P2  More clearly setting out in reports how feedback from engagement and 

consultation has been taken account of in developing proposals for service 
change. 

 

 

Page 15



Detailed report 

Page 6 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 

The Council has a clear set of principles for 
determining service change that support its 
current vision, but it recognises the need to 
review its strategic vision and principles 
7 To date, like most councils, the primary driver for service changes has been the 

need to deliver financial savings. In 2014, the Council agreed a set of principles 
that would underpin its budget and service change proposals and it has used these 
principles to drive service changes to date. These principles are: 

• protecting front-line services where the Council can;  

• reducing expenditure on management and administrative costs;  

• increasing fees and charges where appropriate;  

• reducing, rather than removing services where possible; and 

• focussing on priorities and looking at alternative ways of delivering services.  

8 We found evidence of the Council applying these principles to service change 
decisions, in particular, where Members have opted to reduce rather than remove 
a service. Examples of this include decisions to reduce the opening times of 
customer care centres and civic amenity sites rather than close some centres/sites 
altogether. 

9 The Council has consulted stakeholders on the principles for service changes via a 
number of channels. Officers have recognised that the Council will need a new 
vision from 2017 and have begun to develop this for the newly elected Council to 
consider following the local government elections in May 2017. The Council is 
aware that it has not yet had to make some of the relatively significant or 
controversial decisions on service changes that other councils have made. The 
Council has not yet had to take such steps because it has had a prudent approach 
to its finances in the past. However, now that the financial climate has become 
more difficult, the Council accepts that more significant changes will be required. 
The Council set up a Business Improvement Board in June 2016 to monitor the 
progress with its key strategic projects, and it is now considering a number of work 
streams for more significant service change, such as for its leisure and waste 
services.  

  

Page 16



 

Page 7 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 

The Council continues to strengthen its 
governance and accountability arrangements and 
these have the potential to assist it to deliver 
future service change effectively 
10 Roles and responsibilities in relation to developing and determining service 

changes are generally clear and understood by officers and members. Governance 
roles and responsibilities are set out in the Council’s Constitution. As part of its 
improving governance programme, the Council undertook a number of training and 
awareness sessions to reinforce the understanding of these roles and 
responsibilities. Guidance relating to decision making is also available on the 
Council’s intranet.  

11 The Council has not had to make significant service changes to date, and has not 
needed to set up any specific governance or programme management 
arrangements to manage its service change programme as some other councils 
have done. However, in June 2016, the Council established a Business 
Improvement Board, and consolidated its policy team to strengthen corporate 
capacity and oversight of its key service change programmes. 

12 The Council has reinforced the role and status of the Monitoring Officer and the 
Section 151 Officer. The Council’s Corporate Management Team reviews the draft 
Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny reports, including those relating to service change. 
Other officers, with expertise in areas such as equalities and procurement, also 
review such reports where appropriate.  

13 The Council has also undertaken significant work with officers and members to 
strengthen governance more generally and develop capacity and capability, for 
example in relation to transparency and report writing.   

14 The Council is taking action to respond to the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act (the WFG Act). The Council’s report template and savings proforma 
both now include reference to the sustainable development principle. Senior 
officers have received presentations on the WFG Act and the Council has 
produced a guide for staff on the Act. We also heard from a number of members 
and officers during our interviews that the Council is actively trying to embed the 
sustainable development principle into its governance arrangements, and that the 
Council’s Constitution was also due to be updated to reflect this. 

  

Page 17



 

Page 8 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 

Options appraisals are generally sound and 
improving but there is a need for more 
consistency in the quality of information included 
15 We reviewed a number of service changes that the Council determined during 

2015-16 and 2016-17 to date. We found that officers generally provide Members 
with a range of options in formal reports when service changes are proposed.  
We found one example where the Council considered only one option in relation to 
a reduction in opening hours of a swimming pool. However, the Council provided a 
reasonable rationale as to why it only considered one option. 

16 We found that the Council did not always clearly articulate the criteria against 
which it assessed options for service change in reports, although we recognise that 
the approach the Council has taken has been proportionate to the scale of service 
changes considered to date. The Council has more recently developed a business 
case template for future service changes, which requires the inclusion of key 
criteria for assessing options.  

17 Generally, we found that the level of information provided to Members in relation to 
options appraisals is appropriate and comprehensive. However, our review of the 
changes to the shopping service for the elderly found that officers were required to 
review the accuracy of some information provided to a scrutiny meeting, which 
resulted in significantly reducing the value of the potential saving. In future, as the 
significance of the service changes the Council considers potentially increases, it 
will be important for the Council to assure itself that it consistently provides 
accurate information to Members. 

18 There is extensive and well-established use of pre-decision scrutiny in the Council 
and examples of early engagement of scrutiny in proposed service changes. This 
has enabled both the Cabinet and scrutiny committees to challenge and scrutinise 
options and proposals. There are examples where the Council has considered 
additional options for service changes following feedback from scrutiny 
committees.  

19 The creation of its Business Improvement Board also provides the Council with an 
opportunity for better corporate oversight of significant service change programmes 
and additional challenge to proposals and options. However, the Business 
Improvement Board is relatively new and it is, therefore, too early to evaluate its 
effectiveness.  

  

Page 18



 

Page 9 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 

The Council’s arrangements to engage 
stakeholders in service changes have been 
effective  
20 The Council has effective mechanisms for engaging and informing stakeholders of 

service changes. We found that the Council actively feeds back the outcome of 
consultation to service users as well as signposting changes due to take place in 
affected services. The Council also provided the public with an opportunity to 
prioritise discretionary services as part of the 2015-16 budget setting process, and 
sought views on the future shape of its services for its 2016-17 budget process. 
Every two years, the Council also undertakes a residents’ survey to determine 
levels of satisfaction with Council services.  

21 During our on-site interviews, we found that there is active consideration of 
stakeholder views in decision making, for example about changes to its customer 
service centres. However, we also found that the Council does not always clearly 
set out in reports how it has used the feedback from consultation and engagement 
to inform subsequent proposals or decisions.  

22 There are opportunities for stakeholders to find out about forthcoming Council 
business and to get involved in the decision-making process, particularly in relation 
to the Council’s Scrutiny function. The Council’s website has a Get Involved in 
Scrutiny webpage that clearly sets out the different ways in which the public can 
engage with scrutiny including suggesting items, giving views on items and 
attending to speak at scrutiny committee meetings. Scrutiny work programmes are 
accessible on the Council’s website, and are regularly updated and relatively easy 
to find. They provide details of the issues to be discussed including the purpose of 
items and key issues associated with them.  

23 However, when we examined the Council’s webpages as part of the review, we 
found that the version of the Cabinet Forward Work Programme on the Council’s 
website had not been updated. It is important that the Council ensures that the 
Cabinet work programme is accessible to the public and kept up to date on its 
website so that members of the public can see forthcoming agenda items. Cabinet 
decision notices are relatively easy to access on the website and these were up to 
date at the time we reviewed it.  

24 As the Council begins to consider potentially more significant service changes, it 
will be important that it continues to assure itself that arrangements for engaging, 
consulting and communicating with stakeholders remain commensurate with the 
scale of any planned service changes. 

  

Page 19

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Councillors-and-committees/Committees/Scrutiny-committees/Get-involved-in-scrutiny.aspx
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Councillors-and-committees/Committees/Scrutiny-committees/Get-involved-in-scrutiny.aspx


 

Page 10 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly 
County Borough Council 

The Council monitors the impact of service 
changes but arrangements are not systematic or 
transparent 
25 The Council does not have a systematic process for monitoring the subsequent 

impact of its service change decisions. We found that officers are responsible for 
initially monitoring the impact of decisions and would then escalate any issues or 
concerns to Cabinet members and scrutiny committees. We found evidence of the 
escalation of issues to scrutiny committees where concerns had been raised. For 
instance, the Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee raised concerns 
about charging for replacement waste bins and officers subsequently provided a 
report setting out the implications of re-introducing free replacement bins. We are 
also aware that the Regeneration and Environment Committee is due to consider 
the impact of the introduction of LED street lighting following concerns raised by 
Members. However, arrangements and criteria for monitoring the impact of 
decisions are not set out in business cases or reports relating to service changes. 
There is scope for the Council to formalise the process for monitoring the impact of 
service changes to help improve the transparency and effectiveness of current 
arrangements.  

26 The Council has introduced a number of processes to ensure that the potential 
impact of service changes on groups with protected characteristics are taken into 
account in decision-making on service change. The Council produces equality 
impact assessments (EIAs) as part of its annual budget exercise. It has also 
produced guidance setting out when officers need to produce EIAs, including for 
service change, budgets and projects. In addition, equalities is a section in the 
Council’s formal report template. The Council’s equalities officer reviews all EIAs 
attached to reports and the Council’s monitoring officer checks that applicable 
statements around equalities are included in reports to ensure that the Council has 
considered EIAs. The Council has also provided equalities training for Members. 

In recent years, the Council has strengthened its 
governance and decision-making arrangements 
and has responded positively to our audit reports  
27 We have undertaken a significant amount of work focusing on the Council’s 

governance arrangements in recent years and the Council has responded 
positively to our findings, proposals for improvement and recommendations.  

28 The Council has continued to review and strengthen its arrangements through its 
Improving Governance Programme and its Corporate Governance Board. The 
Council has also developed its governance arrangements in relation to service 
change. Developments include the introduction of the set of guiding principles 
referred to in paragraph 7 above, the establishment of the Business Improvement 

Page 20



 

Page 11 of 12 - Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly 
County Borough Council 

Board, and taking account of the requirements of the WFG Act in its formal report 
template. The Council also has a scrutiny improvement programme and as part of 
this is about to launch a further peer observation programme with two neighbouring 
councils. The Council is able to demonstrate a willingness to learn from experience 
and consequently, implement changes to governance arrangements. 

29 As the Council recognises that it has not yet had to make the more significant 
service changes that some other councils have made, there is an opportunity for 
the Council to learn from other councils’ experiences in delivering more significant 
and potentially controversial service changes. This would help the Council to 
prepare for possible future challenges and the likelihood that more significant 
service changes will be necessary in the medium and long term.  

 

Page 21



 

 

Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone.: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 
24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 
Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru 
Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru 

 

Page 22

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


 
 

 
 

 

 
CABINET – 5TH JULY 2017 

 
SUBJECT: WAO REPORT – SAVINGS PLANNING (CAERPHILLY COUNTY 

BOROUGH COUNCIL)  
 
REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES & S151 OFFICER 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To present Cabinet with the Wales Audit Office (WAO) report on its savings planning 

assessment of Caerphilly CBC.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 During the 2015/16 financial year the WAO undertook work at all Councils to assess the 

adequacy of their financial planning, control and governance arrangements.  Local reports 
were issued and a national summary report was also produced. 

 
2.2 The report on the findings of the review for Caerphilly CBC was presented to Cabinet on the 

27th July 2016 and concluded that: - 
 
 The Council had effective financial control arrangements and a track record of achieving 

savings in advance but its Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and supporting savings plans 
for future years were not yet fully developed and links between the MTFP and corporate 
priorities could be strengthened. 

 
2.3 The WAO has now undertaken a further review between June and December 2016 focussing 

on work to identify, plan for and deliver savings.  The WAO examined the extent to which the 
Council achieved its 2015/16 savings plans, the quality of the MTFP and the robustness of 
savings plans for 2016/17.   

 
2.4 The WAO report detailing the findings of this latest review was issued in March 2017 and is 

attached as Appendix 1. 
 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 Strong financial management is a key component in supporting the Council to deliver its 

strategic plans and priorities.  
 
3.2 Effective financial planning and maintaining expenditure within approved budgets support the 

following Well-being Goals within the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015: - 
 

• A prosperous Wales. 
• A resilient Wales. 
• A healthier Wales. 
• A more equal Wales. 

Page 23

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 5



• A Wales of cohesive communities. 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language. 
• A globally responsible Wales. 

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 The WAO report on the outcome of the savings planning review was issued in March 2017 

and is attached as Appendix 1.  The main conclusions of the report are as follows: - 
 

• The Council has an effective and improving savings planning approach, which is 
supporting future financial resilience. 

• The Council has reported achievement of 96% of its planned 2015/16 savings in year and 
can demonstrate that individual savings have been delivered. 

• The Council has an effective corporate framework for financial planning and whilst the 
Council has well considered savings plans, some savings proposals are insufficiently 
developed when the budget is agreed. 

• The Council has detailed savings plans and is forecasting that 96% of its 2016/17 savings 
plan will be achieved in year. 

 
4.2 The WAO report acknowledges that this is an improving picture, that the Council has 

developed a more comprehensive MTFP covering a five year period and that the Council has 
identified indicative high level savings plans to fill the gap for the earlier years of the MTFP. 

 
4.3 The WAO report contains one proposal for improvement: - 
 
 Strengthen financial planning arrangements by ensuring that savings plans are underpinned 

by robust business cases. 
 
4.4 The officer response to the proposal for improvement is as follows: - 
 

A new template has been developed to capture detailed information on future savings 
proposals.  This will ensure that all relevant information is available to assess the robustness 
of proposals and to aid the decision-making process.  The template is structured under the 
following headings: - 

 
• General information. 
• Public impact analysis. 
• Organisational impact analysis. 
• Consultation. 
• Risks and sensitivities. 
• Options analysis. 
• Links to policy and strategy (including WFG Act 2015). 
• Other relevant information. 

 
 A guidance note has also been prepared to assist Managers in completing the template. 
 
4.5 The new template will be used as part of the process for developing savings proposals for 

2018/19 to 2021/22. 
 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 Effective financial planning and the management of expenditure within approved budgets are 

key elements in ensuring that the Well-being Goals within the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (Wales) 2015 are met. 

 
 

Page 24



6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 This report is for information purposes so the Council’s Equalities Impact Assessment process 

does not need to be applied. 
 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no direct personnel implications arising from this report. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no consultation responses that have not been reflected in this report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Cabinet is asked to: - 
 
10.1.1 Consider and comment upon the content of the WAO report. 
 
10.1.2 Note the officer response to the WAO proposal for improvement as detailed in paragraph 4.4 

of this report. 
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To ensure that Cabinet is aware of the review work undertaken by the WAO and the resultant 

findings, conclusions and proposal for improvement. 
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Local Government Acts 1972 and 2003. 
 
 
Author: Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
 Tel:  01443 863022  E-mail:  harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Corporate Management Team 
 Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer 
 Cllr David Poole, Leader 
 Cllr Barbara Jones, Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance and 

Governance 
 
Background Papers: 
Cabinet (27/7/16) – WAO Financial Resilience Assessment, Caerphilly CBC, April 2016.  
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – WAO Report - Savings Planning, Caerphilly CBC, March 2017 
 

Page 25

mailto:harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk


 

Savings Planning – Caerphilly Coun
Borough Council 

ty 

Audit year: 2016-17 

Date issued: March 2017 

Document reference: 654A2016 

 

 

Page 26



 

 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention  
is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 
authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 

General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 
disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 

info.officer@audit.wales. 

The team who delivered the work comprised Alison Rees, Janet Smith, Sara-Jane Byrne and Jeremy 
Evans, under the direction of Alan Morris 

 

 

Page 27



Contents 

Page 3 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

The Council has an effective and improving savings planning approach, which is 
supporting future financial resilience 

Summary report  

Summary 4 

Proposals for improvement 6 

Detailed report 

The Council has an effective and improving savings planning approach, which is 
supporting future financial resilience 7 

Context 7 

Savings achievement 2015-16 9 

The Council has reported achievement of 96% of its planned 2015-16 savings  
in year and can demonstrate that individual savings have been 
delivered 9 

Financial planning arrangements 10 

The Council has an effective corporate framework for financial planning and 
whilst the Council has well considered savings plans, some savings proposals 
are insufficiently developed when the budget is agreed                                        10 

Savings Plan 2016-17 

The Council has detailed savings plans and is forecasting that 96% of its  
2016-17 savings plan will be achieved in year 12 

 

 

Page 28



Summary report 

Page 4 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Summary 
1 Good financial management is essential for the effective stewardship of public 

money and the continual delivery of efficient public services. The current financial 
climate and the reduced settlements for local government mean that good financial 
planning, with well-considered savings plans, is critical to financial resilience. 

2 This review focuses on answering the following question: Do the council’s 
financial savings planning arrangements support financial resilience? 

3 Good financial planning: 

• helps councils take the right decisions for the short, medium and long term; 

• helps councils deliver services to meet statutory obligations and the needs of 
local communities;  

• is essential for good corporate governance; 

• is about managing performance and achieving strategic objectives as much 
as it is about managing money; 

• underpins service quality and improvement; 

• is the basis of accountability to stakeholders for the stewardship and use of 
resources; and 

• is a key management discipline. 

4 Financial planning for the medium to long term involves understanding future 
demand, assessing the impact of probable changes, reviewing the gaps between 
funding needs and possible income and, where necessary, developing appropriate 
savings strategies.  

5 A council’s strategic priorities and its financial health should be the basis for 
deciding what is practicable. Well-considered and detailed long-term financial 
strategies and Medium-Term Financial Plans can ensure the delivery of strategic 
priorities by enabling appropriate financial choices. Conversely, short-term annual 
budget planning encourages an incremental and process-driven approach that is 
too inflexible in a period of rapid external change. 

6 Councils receive about 80% of their net income from Welsh Government, the exact 
amount is only known 4-5 months before the start of the financial year. Whilst this 
has an impact on financial planning councils can use a range of information to 
anticipate changing circumstances, set priorities, make choices and manage 
service delivery. They can calculate how much they would need to deliver services 
(at current or future prices) and review alternative income and spending scenarios 
to identify gaps and prepare for the future by investigating different approaches. 

  

Page 29



 

Page 5 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

7 During 2015-16 the Wales Audit Office undertook work at all councils to assess the 
adequacy of their financial planning, control and governance arrangements. Local 
reports were issued and a national summary report published in August 2016. The 
national summary report concluded that strategic planning arrangements are 
improving but councils have difficulty in developing and delivering the 
savings and changes to services at the pace required to ensure future 
financial resilience. 

8 In this assessment, undertaken during the period June to September 2016, we 
have focused on work to identify, plan for and deliver savings. We examined the 
extent to which Caerphilly County Borough Council (the Council) achieved its 
2015-16 savings plans, the quality of its medium term financial plans and the 
robustness of its 2016-17 savings plans.  

9 We sampled three savings proposals for 2016-17 and looked at the underlying 
assumptions and whether there are adequate mechanisms to ensure they can be 
delivered in the planned timescale.  

10 We followed up our 2015-16 work to determine what the Council did as a 
consequence of what it learnt and how it has responded to our proposals for 
improvement in relation to financial planning if we made any.  

11 In this report we have described some key characteristics of effective financial 
planning – What good looks like. Auditors have used these and other factors to 
reach a balanced view on the effectiveness of a council’s financial planning 
arrangements and to evaluate the ability of a council to deliver its Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) and planned savings.  

12 In our 2015-16 review we concluded that the Council had effective financial 
control arrangements and a track record of achieving savings in advance but 
its medium term financial plan and supporting savings plans for future years 
were not yet fully developed and links between its MTFP and corporate 
priorities could be strengthened. 

13 In this review we concluded that the Council has an effective and improving 
savings planning approach which is supporting future financial resilience. 

14 This is an improved position from 2015-16. The Council has developed a more 
comprehensive MTFP which covers a five year period and identified indicative high 
level savings plans to fill the gap for the earlier years of the MTFP. 

  

Page 30



 

Page 6 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Proposals for improvement 

Exhibit 1: proposals for improvement 

It would be unusual if we did not find things that can be improved and, where we do,  
The Auditor General can take a variety of steps. In this case a proposal for improvement 
has been made and we would expect the Council to do something about it. 

 

Proposals for improvement 

P1 Strengthen financial planning arrangements by: 
• ensuring that savings plans are underpinned by robust business cases. 

 
 

Page 31



Detailed report 

Page 7 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

The Council has an effective and improving 
savings planning approach which is supporti
future financial resilience 

ng 

Context 
15 Since 2010, the UK government has reduced spending on public services as part 

of its plan to reduce the deficit. With cuts to its budget, the Welsh Government has 
had to make difficult choices as to how to allocate those funding cuts across 
devolved public services. As a result, the amount of core funding made available 
by the Welsh Government to local councils has reduced each year. So far, most 
local councils have managed to reduce expenditure and balance budgets, but the 
scale of annual reductions is likely to continue. Our analysis shows that between 
2013-14 and 2016-17, there is a real-terms reduction of £483 million (10.9%) in this 
core funding1. 

16 The impact of the decision to leave the European Union may represent a threat to 
local councils and the wider public sector in Wales. In the immediate aftermath of 
the decision there was reaction across financial markets resulting in volatility in, for 
example, share prices, currency exchange rates, oil prices and bond yields, and 
the UK continues to face a great deal of uncertainty on top of significant questions 
regarding future economic and trading relationships with Europe. The Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA) has expressed concerns over the implications of 
the European Union referendum outcome, calling it a ‘seismic change in UK public 
policy’2 especially as local councils are collectively the largest employer in Wales 
and the deliverer of many important public services. 

  

 
1 Comparing core funding (Aggregate External Finance (AEF)) across the period 2013-14 
to 2016-17 is complicated for two main reasons. Firstly, the Welsh Government has 
incorporated into core funding grants that were previously provided separately. While this 
‘de-hypothecation’ of grants results in an increase in core funding, it is not necessarily a 
net increase in funding. The net value of grants incorporated into core funding since 
2013-14 is around £76 million in real terms (adjusted for inflation). 
2 Welsh Local Government Association, Councils voice concern over service impacts 
of EU referendum, 24 June 2016 

Page 32



 

Page 8 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

17 Whilst the overall Welsh Government funding has reduced, councils have been 
expected to protect schools and social care from the bulk of the pressures. Social 
care in particular has struggled even with this protection as, for example, 
demographic changes have led to increased demand. However, this does mean 
that other services have borne the majority of the cuts and have seen reductions in 
budgets of 30% or more in real terms since 2013-14.  

18 The Council received £263.3 million in support from Welsh Government in 
 2016-17. This represents £1,455 per person in the county, above the average for 
Wales but a real-terms reduction of 8.68%3 per head since 2013-14. There are 
other key issues that impact on any councils overall financial position, for example 
the overall Council tax base, the ability to generate income locally and the levels of 
deprivation. 

Exhibit 2: Welsh Government support in 2016-17 

The graph below illustrates the amount of money each council gets per head of 
population from the Welsh Government. 

 

Source: Stats Wales (www.statswales.gov.wales)  

 
3 The percentage reduction per head figure varies from the 2013-14 core funding 
reduction due to population variation over the same period. 

£900 £1,000 £1,100 £1,200 £1,300 £1,400 £1,500 £1,600

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council

Caerphilly County Borough Council
Denbighshire County Council

Torfaen County Borough Council
Newport City Council

Gwynedd Council
Carmarthenshire County Council

Bridgend County Borough Council
Isle of Anglesey County Council
Conwy County Borough Council

Ceredigion County Council
Powys County Council

Pembrokeshire County Council
City and County of Swansea

Wrexham County Borough Council
Flintshire County Council

Vale of Glamorgan Council
Cardiff Council

Monmouthshire County Council

Page 33



 

Page 9 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Savings achievement 2015-16 

The Council has reported achievement of 96% of its 
2015-16 savings in year and can demonstrate that i
savings have been delivered 

planned 
ndividual 

What good looks like 

19 Councils that have a good track record of delivering the majority of planned in-year 
savings should have well developed savings and delivery plans in place which are 
underpinned by robust monitoring processes. These councils do not have to 
continually bridge the gap year on year, by identifying alternative savings, using 
unplanned one-off funding from earmarked reserves, general reserves, 
contingency funds or fortuitous unplanned income received during the year.  

What we found 

20 The Council achieved 96% of its 2015-16 planned savings. Unachieved savings 
were either met from underspends elsewhere in 2015-16 service budgets or from 
savings achieved in advance of the following year’s budget. 

21 The Council’s 2015-16 outturn report shows that the Council achieved a surplus of 
£10.1 million on its revenue budget. The surplus included a £6.1 million 
underspend on directorate budgets, £2.6 million on capital financing budgets and 
additional council tax income of £1.4 million. The underspend on directorate 
budgets was partially due to services curtailing expenditure and achieving some 
savings in advance to contribute to future years savings plans. In line with the 
Council’s policy for carrying forward underspends on directorate budgets, it 
transferred £3.5 million to specific directorate reserves and the remaining £6.6 
million to the general reserve. 

22 The Council splits its saving plans into those which impact the public and those 
which do not. Savings plans which do not impact the public amount to 
approximately 55% of the total savings plans value. These are efficiency type 
savings plans which mainly comprise changes to staff structures, budget 
realignment and minor changes to service provision. These are included as a 
single amalgamated savings figure for each directorate. Service specific savings 
which have a public impact are identified individually. 

23 The Council identifies and achieves a proportion of the efficiency type savings 
plans in advance of setting the following year’s annual budget. Problems with 
achieving savings proposals are identified in the quarterly service budget 
monitoring reports. Directorates are expected to achieve all savings plans and to 
meet any unachieved savings from elsewhere in their base budgets. 

  

Page 34



 

Page 10 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Financial planning arrangements 

The Council has an effective corporate framework for financial 
planning and whilst the Council has well considered savings 
plans, some savings proposals are insufficiently developed 
when the budget is agreed 

What good looks like 

24 The MTFP is a key component of an effective, integrated corporate planning 
framework. Good medium-term financial planning and annual budgeting should 
reflect the council’s strategic objectives and priorities for the year, and over the 
longer term. MTFPs typically span a three-to-five year period and should identify 
how resources will be allocated to both the delivery of services and the council’s 
priorities. The impact on citizens and other stakeholders should also be 
considered. 

25 Good MTFPs include consideration of key financial risks together with their 
mitigation. Councils have to make assumptions around inflation, income levels, 
demographics, future demand for services and the costs of delivering services, and 
these need to be based on reasonable predictions. The council should also use 
financial modelling to assess the likely impacts on financial plans and required 
savings for a range of different scenarios and risks. The MTFP should be 
frequently reviewed and updated to reflect changes in assumptions and risks. 

26 Councils should operate within a level of reserves and balances (including 
earmarked reserves and the general fund balance), approved by Members, and 
appropriate to the strategic, operational and financial risks it faces. Councils should 
include details on how reserves will be used over the period of the MTFP. 

27 The Council must demonstrate that it understands its sources of income and the 
risks arising from these, and that it has reviewed its approach to fees and charges, 
for its services, to achieve value for money. 

What we found 

28 In our 2015-16 Financial Resilience Assessment, we made a proposal for 
improvement that the Council should strengthen its financial resilience by 
developing more explicit links between its MTFP and corporate priorities.  

29 The Council’s Corporate Plan covers the period 2013-17 and was refreshed in 
June 2016 to reflect the transition from improvement priorities to well-being 
objectives in preparation of the Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015. This is the final year of the 2013-17 corporate priorities and during the next 
twelve months, the Council will set and define well-being objectives, which will be 
informed by the well-being assessment being carried out by the newly established 
Caerphilly Public Services Board.  

Page 35



 

Page 11 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

30 Whilst links between the Council’s MTFP and corporate priorities are not clearly 
defined, the Council has established a set of principles for formulating its savings 
plans, which are influenced by corporate priorities. The principles are: protecting 
front-line services where the Council can; reducing expenditure on management 
and administrative costs; increasing fees and charges where appropriate; reducing, 
rather than removing services where possible; focusing on priorities and looking at 
alternative ways of delivering services.  

31 The Council has also recently developed a medium term financial plan savings 
template, which it will use for its 2017-18 savings proposals. In this template, there 
is a section for officers to set out links to policy and strategy including the Council’s 
corporate priorities and improvement objectives. This requirement will help to 
strengthen the links between the Council’s MTFP and its priorities. 

32 In our 2015-16 Financial Resilience Assessment, we made a proposal for 
improvement that the Council should strengthen its financial resilience by 
developing a longer-term MTFP with comprehensive multi-year savings plans to 
cover the period. 

33 The Council reviews its MTFP twice a year, normally in July and February but this 
timetable is not aligned with the review of its Corporate Plan. The Council reviewed 
its MTFP in February 2016 and extended its MTFP forecast from a three to a five 
year period. The MTFP 2016-17 to 2020-21 identifies a budget gap of £36 million. 
The Council has identified indicative savings over the period of £29 million, leaving 
a budget gap of £7 million.  

34 The Council’s MTFP forecasts are comprehensive, include sensitivity analysis, and 
are modelled on best, most likely and least optimistic scenarios. The MTFP is also 
underpinned by reasonable and appropriate assumptions for key variables such as 
pay awards, price inflation, and funding and council tax levels. The impact of 
demographic changes, demand changes and inescapable pressures is also 
assessed.  

35 The Council rolls forward its MTFP annually and normally reports to Cabinet in July 
each year. In addition, Corporate Management Team receives regular updates on 
MTFP assumptions to take account of changes in key variables and any other 
emerging issues. 

36 The Council holds approximately £10 million as a working balance in its general 
reserve. The general reserve level is reviewed when setting the annual budget and 
producing its statement of accounts. Whilst the annual budget includes a report on 
the projected use of the general reserve and proposals for the use of earmarked 
reserves, neither the annual budget report nor MFTP include a comprehensive 
statement on the reserves position or planned use of reserves. The Council 
outlined details of its useable reserves and proposals for the use of its reserves in 
reports to the Policy and Resources scrutiny committee in April 2015 and 
November 2016, and to Cabinet in December 2016, 

37 The Council’s planned budget strategy includes the use of the previous year’s 
actual council tax surplus income to fund its base budget. For example, the surplus 
council tax income achieved in 2014-15 of £1.2 million was used to fund the 2015-

Page 36



 

Page 12 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

16 budget. The surplus council tax income is transferred into the Council’s general 
reserve at year end. Whilst this is additional income, as it would normally be put 
into reserves, the Council is in effect using reserves to fund its base budget. 

38 The Council has a reserves strategy, which Cabinet approved in July 2016. The 
strategy consolidates its existing arrangements for the establishment and 
management of the use of its reserves. The Council’s reserve strategy places a 3% 
cap on the amount of general reserves directorates can hold from accumulated 
revenue budget underspends. The Council also proposes to carry out annual 
reviews of useable reserves, which it intends to report to its Policy and Resources 
Committee six months before the financial year end. 

39 In our 2015-16 Financial Resilience Assessment, we made a proposal for 
improvement that the Council should strengthen its financial resilience by 
developing an income generation/charging policy.  

40 During our 2016-17 Financial Resilience Assessment, we found that whilst the 
Council does not yet have an income generation/charging policy, it has a corporate 
fees and charges register. It has also identified income generation as one of the 
work streams of its Business Improvement Board to consider the opportunities 
around income generation for the Council. 

41 The Council has set income generation targets for some discretionary service 
areas for 2016-17. However, the Council’s mid-year budget monitoring report 
suggests that the Council is not meeting some of these targets and increased 
charges are not necessarily resulting in increased income levels. Therefore, the 
Council is looking to shift the focus of the income generation work stream to review 
current income levels against the targets set. It plans to establish what needs to be 
done to achieve these targets or whether alternative savings need to be identified. 
As part of this approach, the Council plans to review its strategy around fees, 
charging and income generation learning from its approach to date. 

Savings Plan 2016-17 

The Council has detailed savings plans and is for
96% of its 2016-17 savings plan will be achieved i

ecasting that 
n year 

What good looks like 

42 Councils that deliver savings effectively have well-considered savings plans that sit 
within longer-term savings strategies which are underpinned by well-developed 
fully costed individual savings and delivery plans aligned with the MTFP. Savings 
proposals should be specific and risk assessed in terms of likelihood of 
achievement. 

  

Page 37



 

Page 13 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

What we found 

43 The Council has identified savings plans of £11.1 million to meet its 2016-17 
budget strategy, which includes savings achieved in advance of £1.9 million. The 
Council’s quarter one financial monitoring report forecasts that it will achieve 96% 
of all savings plans for 2016-17. The Council plans to mitigate unachieved savings 
from other directorate budgets or from directorate reserves. Any unachieved 
savings plans will have to be found from elsewhere in directorate budgets or 
directorate reserves. 

44 The Council classified its 2016-17 savings plans into those which have no impact 
on the public and service users (efficiency type savings) and those which do have 
an impact. The Council consults on those savings plans which have a public 
impact and in 2016-17 these amounted to approximately £500,000. The savings 
that are considered to have a public impact were also subject to an Equalities 
Impact Assessment. 

45 The Council’s 2016-17 savings proposals are not formally risk assessed in terms of 
achievability. However, prior to being included in the Council’s budget, finance 
officers work with service managers to challenge proposals before presenting them 
to Members. The Council only includes savings in its annual budget if they are 
deemed to be fully achievable.  

46 General efficiency type savings plans are included as a global target sum but no 
specific detail is made available in the public domain, because these proposals are 
deemed to have no impact on service users or stakeholders. However, the Council 
maintains and monitors a comprehensive schedule of the proposals that are 
included in the Council’s budget.  

47 The Council lists savings which have a public impact individually and monitors 
them on a line by line basis, with reports being considered by Scrutiny Committees. 
The Council has told us that as at the 30 September 2016 that some proposals of 
this type will not be achieved and will be rolled into the following year.  

48 Previously, the Council has not regularly reported the ‘Whole-Council’ financial 
position and progress on savings plans to Cabinet during the year as on the whole, 
savings have been on schedule. However, the Council has now instigated ‘Whole-
Council’ mid-year budget monitoring reports to Cabinet. These reports outline 
projected expenditure for the year and progress on achieving savings plans. The 
Council has taken this step as it recognises that the risk of non-delivery of savings 
has increased. Cabinet considered the first such report on 30 November 2016. 

49 The Council’s scrutiny committees consider quarterly service budget monitoring 
reports up to the third quarter of the year, but in 2015-16, the Council did not report 
the year end position on savings plans to its Scrutiny Committees or Cabinet. 

50 The three savings proposals for 2016-17 we sampled, to test the underlying 
assumptions and whether there are adequate mechanisms to ensure they can be 
delivered in the planned timescale, were: 

• reduce operational breakfast clubs by 1 hour of staffing per day; 

• countryside maintenance income; and 

Page 38



 

Page 14 of 16 - Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

• customer services. Further reduction in opening hours.  

51 We found that the information to support each of the 2016-17 savings we reviewed 
was fragmented and of variable quality. The Council recognises that as budgets 
reduce, the nature of the savings it will need to make will shift from base budget 
efficiency type savings to service change savings. These will need to be supported 
by more robust business cases. Therefore, the Council has developed a business 
case template, which it intends to introduce to support the development of future 
savings plans. 

 

 

Page 39



Page 40



 

 

Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone.: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 
24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 
Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru 
Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru 

 

Page 41

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 42



 
 

 
 

 

 
CABINET – 5TH JULY 2017 

 
SUBJECT: PROVISIONAL OUTTURN FOR 2016/17 
 
REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES & S151 OFFICER 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide Cabinet with details of the provisional outturn for the 2016/17 financial year prior to 

the annual audit by the Authority’s External Auditor, Grant Thornton.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 In advance of the Statement of Accounts being audited and presented to Council on the 

31st July 2017, this report provides an overview of the Council’s performance against the 
budget for the 2016/17 financial year. Members receive detailed budget monitoring reports as 
part of the Scrutiny process throughout the financial year.   

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The Provisional Outturn Report encompasses all the resources used by the Council to 

achieve its strategies.  
 
3.2 Effective financial planning and maintaining expenditure within approved budgets support the 

following Well-being Goals within the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015: - 
 

• A prosperous Wales. 
• A resilient Wales. 
• A healthier Wales. 
• A more equal Wales. 
• A Wales of cohesive communities. 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language. 
• A globally responsible Wales. 

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 The provisional outturn position is attached as Appendix A and is summarised below:- 
 

 £m 
Service Directorate Underspends 3.808 
Miscellaneous Finance Underspends 3.474 
Council Tax Surplus 1.642 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Underspend 3.977 
Schools Overspend (0.555) 
  
Total: -  12.346 

Page 43

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 6



4.2 The Service Directorate underspend of £3.808m represents 2.18% of net Directorate budgets.  
During the year Officers have continued to be mindful of the continuing programme of 
austerity and expenditure has been curtailed in a number of areas to support the Medium-
Term Financial Plan (MTFP).  This prudent approach has resulted in a number of savings 
being achieved in advance and underspends being higher than would normally be the case. 

 
4.3 After adjusting for earmarked reserves, 50% of underspends are carried forward by 

Directorates and are available to meet the requirements of these service areas.  The 
remaining balance is transferred to the General Fund. Overspends are normally funded from 
future Directorate budgets or balances brought forward from previous years.  Service reserves 
held by Directorates can be used to fund one-off cost pressures or to pump-prime service 
reconfiguration but they cannot be relied upon to deliver balanced budgets on a recurring 
basis. 

 
4.4 The table in Appendix B shows the movements on the General Fund balance from the 

1st April 2016 to the 31st March 2017 along with agreed commitments for 2017/18.  The 
forecast General Fund balance as reported to Council on 22nd February 2017 was £13.910m.  
The updated position is a projected balance £15.964m, an increase of £2.054m.  The 
variations to the forecast are as follows: - 

 
 £m 
Increased Contribution from Service Areas (including Miscellaneous Finance) 2.469 
2016/17 Council Tax Surplus  0.242 
Reduced Contribution to Back-Dated Additional Holiday Pay  0.075 
Additional Provision for Senior Officer Investigation (Council 07/03/17)  (0.263) 
Additional Provision for Senior Officer Investigation (Council 13/06/17) (0.469) 
  
Net Increase: - 2.054 

 
4.5 The Acting Director of Corporate Services & Section 151 Officer normally recommends a 

minimum General Fund balance of £10m (circa 3% of the net revenue budget).  However, the 
funding outlook for Local Government remains uncertain for future years for both core funding 
and specific grants and with this in mind it is recommended that the balance on the General 
Fund should be held at £13.910m as agreed by Council on the 22nd February 2017.  This will 
mean that the additional take to the General Fund of £2.054m is available for other purposes 
and it is recommended that this should be transferred to a Capital Earmarked Reserve.  
Proposals on the use of available Capital Earmarked Reserves will be presented to Cabinet 
for consideration later this year. 

 
4.6 The following paragraphs comment on the 2016/17 underspends as detailed in Appendix A. 
 
 EDUCATION AND LIFELONG LEARNING (£164K UNDERSPEND)    
 
4.7 Overall the Directorate (including schools) is reporting an underspend of £164k.  This includes 

an overspend of £555k for schools, which necessitated a take from earmarked school 
balances, and a net underspend for Central Education & Lifelong Learning of £719k.  

 
4.8 The most significant variances (over £100k) against budgets are as follows: - 
 

 (Over)/ 
Under 
£000’s 

Prior-Year Accruals  347 
Home to School/College Transport (130) 
Relief Supply Cover (Sickness SRB’s & Maternity) (123) 
Planning & Strategy – Central Costs 190 
Visually Impaired Service 126 
EOTAS (Education Other Than At School) (429) 
Music Service (146) 

Page 44



Education Achievement Service (EAS)  152 
Community Education (Adult & Youth) 197 
Libraries 179 

 
4.9 The £347k release of prior-year accruals arises from a review of balances and the 

identification of sums that no longer need to be held to meet anticipated financial 
commitments.  This is a one-off saving for 2016/17 only.  

 
4.10 The Home to School/College Transport budget, which is managed by the Engineering Division 

in the Environment Directorate (with variances ring-fenced to Education), has reported an 
overspend of £130k.  This variance relates in part to the 3 additional school days in the 
2016/17 financial year due to the timing of the Easter Holidays.  Other factors contributing to 
the overspend include increased demand arising from Additional & Special Educational Needs 
and EOTAS (Education Other Than At School).  

 
4.11 Expenditure against the Relief Supply Cover budget for schools is unpredictable due to 

varying sickness levels in Special Resource Bases and maternity absences across all 
schools.  An overspend of £123k has occurred for the 2016/17 financial year and due to the 
volatility and uncertain nature of this spend the position will need to be closely monitored 
during 2017/18.  

 
4.12 The underspend of £190k in relation to Planning & Strategy – Central Costs relates to a 

vacant post that has now been removed as part of the approved savings for 2017/18, two 
lengthy in-year vacancies and some changes during the year to staff contracts.  

 
4.13 In recent years the Visually Impaired Service has consistently reported an underspend and 

this has continued for 2016/17.  The budget has now been adjusted as part of the approved 
savings for 2017/18.  

 
4.14 EOTAS (Education Other Than At School) accommodates learners who are unable to attend 

and learn through mainstream school and the service continues to receive an increasing 
number of referrals for children with challenging behaviour.  During 2016/17 the service has 
invested, as part of a 2 year pilot, in the development of three Learning Pathway Centres on 
three High School sites.  This has resulted in some additional costs in year, but in the longer 
term the expectation is that this could reduce the number of pupils in placements with external 
providers.  This pilot is being re-evaluated mid-term.   

 
4.15 The approved budget for the 2016/17 financial year included a further reduction of £100k in 

the budget for the Authority’s Music Service.  A Working Group has been reviewing delivery 
options to achieve this saving and whilst the saving has not been achieved in 2016/17, 
savings have been identified to reduce this overspend in 2017/18.  

 
4.16 In 2016/17 the main contract charge from the Education Achievement Service (EAS) was less 

than the current budget provision.  In addition, a reduction in the Regional Education 
Improvement Grant (EIG) has led to a reduction of £60k in the match funding requirement 
from the Authority.  

 
4.17 The underspend of £197k within the Community Education (Adult & Youth) budget relates to a 

number of variances across the service.  The most notable relate to in-year staff savings, a 
saving on premises costs and additional income generation (including grant income).  The 
approved budget for 2017/18 includes savings of £93k for this service area.  

 
4.18 The Library Service underspend of £179k relates primarily to in-year staff savings, a one-off 

saving on energy costs and transport savings.  The approved budget for 2017/18 includes 
savings of £120k for the Library Service.  

 
  

Page 45



 Social Services (£265k Underspend) 
 
4.19 The overall outturn position in respect of Social Services for 2016/17 is an underspend of 

£265k.  £27k of this underspend relates to the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) within the 
Environment Directorate and arises from more efficient practices in respect of the transport of 
Looked After Children.  The remaining underspend of £238k relates to budgets managed 
solely within the Directorate of Social Services. 

 
4.20 Budgetary growth of £2.5m was allocated to the Social Services budget in 2016/17 in 

response to demographic pressures and the impact of the National Living Wage.  However, 
demand for services grew significantly throughout the financial year, resulting in an overspend 
on care packages of £1.072m for Children’s Services, £708k for Adult Services and an 
overspend of £147k for Supporting People Services.  This increasing demand due to 
demographics, coupled with further implications of the National Living Wage has prompted 
further budgetary growth of £3.5m for the Social Services budget in 2017/18. 

 
4.21 The increasing demand for social care packages was identified at an early stage in the 

financial year.  This enabled the Senior Management Team to take mitigating action against 
these rising costs by adopting a prudent approach to vacancy management across the 
Directorate.  This approach contributed towards underspends of £971k against management, 
social work and administrative staff budgets and £620k against in-house residential and day 
care budgets. 

 
4.22 Further examples of prudent budget management in response to increasing demands and 

other cost pressures resulted in underspends of £73k in respect of Children’s Services 
contracts with third sector organisations and £109k in respect of Adult Services contracts with 
third sector organisations. 

 
4.23 Reimbursements of £84k from the Gwent Frailty Partnership and £101k from the Gwent-Wide 

Integrated Community Equipment Service (GWICES) further mitigated the potential 
overspend caused by the increasing demand for social care packages.  These services are 
provided in partnership with other stakeholders and the Directorate’s financial contribution 
towards these services is strongly influenced by the actions of those stakeholders.  

 
4.24 During 2016/17 the Directorate received £175k more than was budgeted in respect of service 

users’ financial contributions towards the cost of their care provided within residential homes 
for older people owned by the Authority.  These contributions are determined from an 
assessment of the income and assets of those service users and therefore the level of income 
received can fluctuate quite significantly, depending on the relative wealth of the cohort of 
service users that are resident at any time.  

 
4.25 Other minor underspends totalling £32k further contributed to the net underspend for the 

Directorate of £238k. 
 
 Environment (£1.342m Underspend) 
 
4.26 The overall outturn position for the Environment Directorate after the approved use of 

reserves is an underspend of £1.342m.  This underspend does not include a ring-fenced 
under spend of £27k in relation to Social Services Transport and a ring-fenced overspend of 
£130k in relation to Home to School Transport.  These variations are included in the Social 
Services and Education & Lifelong Learning Directorates outturn positions respectively. 

 
4.27 The Regeneration & Planning Division is reporting an overall underspend of £419k.  

Regeneration has reported an underspend of £513k where some of the more significant 
variations relate to vacant posts (£179k), reductions in marketing, promotion and subscription 
costs in Business Support and Tourism (£50k), increased income and reduced running costs 
for industrial properties (£90k), increased income at tourism events (£33k) and additional 
income in relation to Town Centre Management (£18k).  Community Regeneration generated 
additional staff recharge income of £66k through supporting the grant funded Communities 

Page 46



First programme.  The Community Regeneration Fund underspent by £115k due to the 
number and value of bids received being less than the budget and there was also an 
underspend in other community project based budgets within Community Regeneration of 
£18k.  These underspends were partly offset by an overspend of £125k in relation to Bargoed 
Unit Shops due to a shortfall in income arising from under occupancy.  Planning has reported 
an overspend of £94k, primarily due to a shortfall in Building Control fees and Planning 
Application fees, partly offset by underspends in staffing due to vacant posts.   

 
4.28 The Engineering Division is reporting a net underspend of £261k (excluding the underspend 

noted above in relation to Social Services Transport (£27k) and overspend in relation to Home 
to School Transport (£130k)).  An overspend of £132k in relation to Highway Operations 
general road maintenance and associated I.T and consultancy costs is partly offset by 
underspends in relation to Winter Maintenance (£38k) and Street Lighting (£33k).  In addition, 
there are underspends in Transport Engineering (£28k) and Engineering Projects Group 
(£135k) due to a combination of vacant posts and additional fee income.  There is a small 
overspend of £21k in relation to passenger transport and Network Contract Services (NCS) 
has reported a net surplus of £180k.  

 
4.29 The Public Protection Division is reporting an overall underspend of £497k.  The most 

significant underspends are in Trading Standards, Licensing and Community Safety (£93k), 
Environmental Health (£148k) and Catering (£256k).  The underspends in Trading Standards, 
Licensing and Community Safety and Environmental Health were primarily due to vacant 
posts and maternity leave.  The underspend in Catering was mainly due to higher than 
budgeted income from schools as a result of the high take-up of school meals, no school 
closures for severe winter weather and some reductions in operational costs.  

 
4.30 The Community & Leisure Division has reported a net overall underspend of £165k.  Waste 

Management and Street Cleansing has overspent by £207k.  This includes an overspend of 
£285k in relation to dry recycling treatment due to a combination of increased treatment costs 
per tonne, increased waste tonnages and additional costs of treating materials that cannot be 
recycled.  It should be noted that the Community & Leisure Division’s budget received 
additional one-off funding of £800k for 2016/17 from a corporately held waste management 
contingency to assist in the funding of increased dry recycling treatment costs.  The reported 
overspend of £285k is inclusive of this additional funding.  There were also overspends in 
relation to Civic Amenity Site waste treatment (£297k) and residual waste treatment (£68k) 
due to increased tonnage of waste being processed, an overspend on vehicle running costs 
(£485k) and a shortfall in commercial waste income (£127k).  These overspends were partly 
offset by underspends in relation to organics waste treatment (£97k) due to revised contract 
prices associated with the source separating of food and green waste, waste management 
and street cleansing staffing costs (£302k) due to vacant posts, reduced/delayed vehicle and 
plant acquisitions (£475k) and reduced spend on replacement waste bins (£90k).  

 
4.31 Parks & Cemeteries services reported an underspend of £123k and Leisure & Sports 

Development Services underspent by £220k.  The frontline trading operations of Building 
Cleaning and Vehicle Maintenance & Fleet Management reported a net surplus of £29k. 

 
 Corporate Services – (£1.482m Underspend) 
 
4.32 The final outturn position for the Directorate of Corporate Services is an underspend of 

£1.482m, the most significant elements of which are the following: - 
 

• Corporate Finance is reporting an overall underspend of £421k.  This relates in the main 
to delays in appointing to vacant posts, vacancies that have been held to support MTFP 
savings requirements and additional one-off grant funding. 

• Procurement & Customer Services are reporting an underspend of £169k which is due in 
the main to vacancies that have been held to support MTFP savings requirements. 

• Legal & Governance is reporting an underspend of £144k due to delays in filling posts and 
withholding vacancies.   
 

Page 47



• Corporate Policy is reporting an underspend of £51k due in the main to a £50k 
underspend in the Voluntary Sector Budget, an underspend of £28k in Community Safety 
and an underspend of £27k in the Performance Management Unit.  These underspends 
have been partially offset by increased costs in respect of complying with the Welsh 
Language Standards.  

• Housing Services is reporting a £59k underspend.  This consists of an underspend of 
£24k for General Fund Housing and an underspend of £35k in Private Housing.  

• Information Technology is reporting an underspend of £400k due in the main to vacancies 
being held to support MTFP savings requirements moving forward. 

• Performance & Property is reporting a net overspend of £39k.  The main variances are 
overspends of £35k on Corporate Buildings and £23k on Corporate Property which are 
partially offset by additional fee income in Asset Management and Building Consultancy. 

• For Human Resources, Communications and Health & Safety there is a combined 
underspend of £239k.  This consists of a £198k underspend in Human Resources due in 
the main to vacancies being held to support the MTFP, an overspend in Communications 
of £27k largely due to reduced income levels and a £68k underspend in the Health & 
Safety budget due to additional income from the Service Level Agreement with Cardiff City 
Council and delays in filling vacant posts. 

• Other budgets within Corporate Services are showing a net underspend of £38k.   
 
 Miscellaneous Finance - (£3.474m Underspend) 
 
4.33 Budgets in Miscellaneous Finance underspent by £3.474m, the most significant elements of 

which are:- 
 

• An underspend of £2.458m on Capital Financing budgets mainly due to the following: - 
- 2015/16 and 2016/17 supported borrowing has been deferred to future years as there 

are cash balances that can be utilised in the short term. 
- Improved returns on investments in accordance with the revised Treasury 

Management Strategy.  
• Prudential Borrowing for Islwyn West being delayed - £188k underspend. 
• Pension Contributions for former Authorities - £91k underspend. 
• External Audit fees - £86k underspend. 
• Additional one-off income of £375k. 
• Net underspend on other budgets in Miscellaneous Finance of £276k. 

 
Council Tax Collection – (£1.642m Surplus) 

 
4.34 This represents an increase of £242k above the assumed level of £1.4m for the 2016/17 

financial year.  
 

Housing Revenue Account (£3.977m Underspend) 
 
4.35 £1.9m of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) underspend is in the Building Maintenance 

budget, in particular the non-DLO budget, which was not fully utilised due to the in-house 
response team undertaking more work directly rather than needing support from external 
contractors.  A further underspend of £1.6m is reported on non-pay budgets including Housing 
Response, Bad Debt Provision and various departmental projects. 

 
4.36 £360k of the HRA underspend is in Capital Financing Recharges and a further £180k of the 

underspend is due to salary savings, mainly from the turnover of staff. 
 
4.37 The HRA allowed for some £15.7m of revenue contributions towards the Welsh Housing 

Quality Standard (WHQS) Programme during the 2016/17 financial year and this was fully 
allocated.  A further £8.4m was required from HRA working balances. 

 
4.38 HRA Working Balances stand at £15.6m at the end of 2016/17 (subject to external audit).  

The majority of this funding is earmarked for the WHQS Programme. 

Page 48



 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital 

 
4.39 Total expenditure on the WHQS Capital Programme for 2016/17 was £31.4m.  This 

expenditure was funded from the £7.4m Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) received from the 
Welsh Government (WG) and revenue contributions from the HRA of £24m.  No borrowing 
has been undertaken as yet for the WHQS Programme.  A further £914k of capital 
expenditure was incurred on the WG Vibrant and Viable Places programme that 
encompassed both HRA and Non-HRA capital works.  This expenditure was funded from a 
WG grant.  

 
4.40 There were 23 Right to Buy sales during the year resulting in a useable capital receipt of 

£520k. 
 

General Fund Capital Programme 
 
4.41 The General Fund Capital Programme for 2016/17 resulted in targeted spend available of 

£55.5m after including all in-year grant allocations and Section 106 monies.  An amount of 
£20.5m remains unspent at the financial year-end, the majority of which represents slippage 
that will be carried forward into the 2017/18 financial year.  The most significant areas of 
slippage relate to the Engineering Division (£4.3m, of which £1.9m is Section 106 monies); 
Social Services (£3.2m); Education (£2.7m, of which £1.5m is related to the 21st Century 
Schools Programme); Community & Leisure Services related schemes (£2.1m); Land 
Reclamation (£2.1m); Property Services (£2.1m) and Private Housing (£1.8m). 

 
4.42 The 2016/17 Capital Outturn Report will be presented to the Policy & Resources Scrutiny 

Committee on the 3rd October 2017. 
 
 General Usable Service Reserves 
 
4.43 As outlined in paragraph 4.3, after adjusting for earmarked reserves 50% of underspends are 

carried forward by Directorates and are available to meet the requirements of these service 
areas in subsequent financial years.  The table below provides a summary of the reserves 
arising from cumulative Directorate underspends along with projected balances after taking 
account of the approved use of reserves in 2016/17 and the current approved use of reserves 
for 2017/18: - 

 
Service Area Opening In-Year Closing Approved  Projected 

  Balance Movement Balance Use Of Balance 
  (01/04/16) 2016/17  (31/03/17) Reserves (31/03/18) 
  £m £m £m £m £m 

            
Education & LL 2.459 (1.090) 1.369 0 1.369 
       
Social Services 3.129 (0.256) 2.873 0 2.873 
       
Environment 0.480 (0.092) 0.388 (0.073) 0.315 
       
Corporate Services 2.197 (0.560) 1.637 0 1.637 
       
Totals: - 8.265 (1.998) 6.267 (0.073) 6.194 

 
4.44 The Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee receives an annual report on usable reserves 

and the next report has been scheduled for the 14th November 2017.  
 
 

Page 49



5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 Effective financial planning and the management of expenditure within approved budgets are 

key elements in ensuring that the Well-being Goals within the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (Wales) 2015 are met. 

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no direct equalities implications to this report in terms of the financial information 

being presented for 2016/2017. 
 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 As detailed throughout the report. 
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no direct personnel implications arising from this report. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no consultation responses that have not been reflected in this report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: - 
 
10.1.1 Notes the provisional 2016/17 outturn position. 
 
10.1.2 Approves the transfer of £2.054m into a Capital Earmarked Reserve as outlined in paragraph 

4.5 of this report. 
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To ensure that Cabinet Members are aware of the provisional outturn for the 2016/17 financial 

year.  
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
Author: Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
 Tel:  01443 863022  E-mail:  harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Corporate Management Team 
 Cllr D Poole, Leader 

Cllr Barbara Jones, Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance 
and Governance 
Mike Eedy, Finance Manager, Environment 

 Andrew Southcombe, Finance Manager, Corporate Finance 
 Jane Southcombe, Financial Services Manager, Education & Lifelong Learning 
 Mike Jones, Interim Financial Services Manager, Social Services 
 Lesley Allen, Principal Accountant, Housing 
 Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
 

Page 50

mailto:harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk


Background Papers: - 
Stephen Harris Ext. 3022 – Final Accounts working papers for 2016/17. 
 
Appendices: - 
Appendix A - Provisional Outturn Summary 2016/17 
Appendix B - Movement on General Fund 
 

Page 51



APPENDIX A 
 

PROVISIONAL OUTTURN 2016-17 
 

SUMMARY 
 

SERVICE AREA UNDERSPEND 
(OVERSPEND) 

£m 

TAKE TO GENERAL 
FUND 

£m 
   
Education & Lifelong Learning 0.719 0.359 
   
Social Services 0.265 0.133 
   
Environment 1.342 0.586 
   
Corporate Services 1.482 0.741 
   
Miscellaneous Finance 3.474 3.474 
   
Council Tax Surplus 1.642 1.642 
   
TOTALS 8.924 6.935 
 

 
Service area surpluses are subject to a 50% take to General Fund balances after specific  
agreed earmarking of funds.  Miscellaneous Finance and Council Tax surpluses are  
transferred in total to General Fund balances.   
 
School and HRA balances must be ringfenced to those service areas. 

OTHER  UNDERSPEND 
(OVERSPEND) 

£m  

TAKE TO GENERAL 
FUND 

£m 
   
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 3.977 N/A 
   
Schools (0.555) N/A 
   
OVERALL TOTAL SURPLUS 12.346 6.935 

Page 52



APPENDIX B 
 

MOVEMENT ON GENERAL FUND 
 

 £m £m 
 

Opening Balance 01/04/2016  12.615 
   
Use of Funds as Previously Agreed by Cabinet/Council: -    
2015/16 Council Tax surplus to support 2016/17 budget (1.400)  
Back-dated additional holiday pay (0.425)  
Senior officer investigation additional financial provisions    (0.413)  
2016/17 City Deal Partnership revenue contribution. (0.060)  
   
Total Funds Taken In-Year  (2.298) 
   
Funds Transferred into General Fund: -   
Education & Lifelong Learning – 50% of 2016/17 underspend  0.359  
Social Services – 50% of 2016/17 underspend 0.133  
Environment – 50% of 2016/17 underspend 0.586  
Corporate Services – 50% of 2016/17 underspend 0.741  
Miscellaneous Finance – 100% of 2016/17 underspend 3.474  
Council Tax surplus 2016/17 1.642  
   
Total General Fund Contribution 2016/17  6.935 
   
Earmarked Reserves Transferred into Working Balances  0.581 
   
Total In-Year Movement   5.218 
   
Closing Balance 31/03/2017  17.833 
   
2017/18 Commitments Previously Agreed by Council :-   
2016/17 Council Tax surplus to support 2017/18 budget (1.400)  
Senior officer investigation additional financial provisions    (0.469)  
  (1.869) 
   
Anticipated Closing Balance 31/03/2018  15.964 
 
 
 

Page 53



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 54



 
 

 
 

 

 
CABINET – 5TH JULY 2017 

 
SUBJECT: RHYMNEY 3-18 SCHOOL: OUTCOME OF THE STATUTORY NOTICE 
 
REPORT BY: INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on the outcome of the Statutory Notice and to determine whether to 

proceed with the proposal to establish Rhymney 3-18 school. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY   
 
2.1 The Local Authority has followed procedures outlined in the School Organisation Code (2013) 

to create a 3-18 School on the Rhymney Comprehensive site. 
 
2.2 As no objections were received during the Statutory Notice period, the final stage in the 

process is for Cabinet to make a decision on the proposal. 
 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The report contributes to the Well-being Goals within the Well-being of Future Generations 

Act (Wales) 2016. In particular, as follows: 
 

• A healthier Wales, supporting learners can improve their well-being and add educational 
achievement.  

• A more equal Wales, a society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what 
their background is; and.  

• A Wales of cohesive communities (in the context of improving quality of life with 
attractive, viable, safe and well connected communities). 

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 Cabinet, at its meeting on 15th March 2017 agreed to proceed to the publication of a Statutory 

Notice on the above proposal 
 
4.2 The Statutory Notice was subsequently published on 8th May 2017 and a copy is attached as 

Appendix 1. As indicated in the School Organisation Code 2013, all consultees were notified 
and were given an opportunity to object to the proposals.  The Statutory Notice provided a 
28 day notice period for objections and the Notice period ended on 5th June 2017. 

 
4.3 There were no objections received in relation to the proposal. 
 
4.4 In the event Cabinet approves the proposal it is recommended to proceed with the 

establishment of Rhymney 3-18 school from 1st January 2018, as outlined in the notice. 
 

Page 55

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 7



 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS  
 
5.1 The content of the report contribute to the wellbeing goals (as noted in 3.1) and in particular in 

the context of  
 

• Involvement/Collaboration – this report is the result of a detailed and thorough consultation 
process. 

• Long Term – this proposal as evidenced above produces long term benefits for the school 
learners and the community in general. 

• Prevention – the proposal supports a smooth transition from Primary to Secondary School. 
 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment screening has been completed, in accordance with the 

Council’s Strategic Equality Plan, and no discrimination was found. 
 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this proposal. 
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 This will be dependent upon the staffing structure recommended by the Governing Body.  
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 A detailed consultation process was undertaken and reported to Cabinet.  The relevant 

consultees, as per the School Organisation Code, have been updated at the various stages of 
the process. 

 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Cabinet are recommended to determine whether to establish the Rhymney 3-18 school with 

effect from January 2018. 
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To determine the proposal in accordance with the School Standards & Organisation (Wales) 

Act 2013 and subsequent School Organisation Code 2013. 
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 School Standards & Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. 
 The School Organisation Code.  Welsh Government (2013). 
 
12.2 This is a Cabinet function. 
 
 
Author: Sue Richards, Interim Head of Planning, Strategy and Resources 
 E-Mail:        richase@caerphilly.gov.uk 
  

Page 56

mailto:richase@caerphilly.gov.uk


Consultees: Chris Burns, Interim Chief Executive 
 Nicole Scammell, Acting Director of Corporate Services & S151 
 Dave Street, Corporate Director – Social Services 
 Christina Harrhy, Corporate Director – Communities 
 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer 
 Councillor Philippa Marsden, Cabinet Member for Education & Lifelong Learning 
 Lynne Donovan, Acting Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development 
 Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
 Jane Southcombe, Financial Services Manager 
 Anwen Rees, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language) 
 Ros Roberts, Performance Manager 
 Mark Williams, Building Consultancy Manager 
 Headteachers of Rhymney Comprehensive, Abertysswg Primary and Pontlottyn 

Primary Schools 
 Kim Dufty, Chair of Governors Rhymney Comprehensive 
 Councillor Gaynor Oliver, Vice-Chair of Governors Rhymney Comprehensive and 

Chair of Governors Pontlottyn Primary School 
 Julie Richards, Vice-Chair of Governors Pontlottyn Primary School 
 Brian Hales, Chair of Governors Abertysswg Primary School 
 Councillor David Harse, Vice-Chair of Governors Abertysswg Primary School 
 Councillor John Bevan 
 
Background Papers: 
Education for Life Scrutiny 5th July 2016 (All Through Schools) 
Cabinet 30th November 2016 (Proposed Rhymney 3-18 All Through School) 
Education for Life Scrutiny 27th February 2017 (Consultation – Proposal to Establish Rhymney  
3-18 School) 
Cabinet 15th March 2017 (Consultation – Proposal to Establish Rhymney 3-18 School). 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1: Statutory Notice. 
 
 

Page 57



                                                                                                                  Appendix 1 
 
This Statutory Notice is published by Caerphilly County Borough Council 
  
NOTICE is given in accordance with Section 42 and 43 of the School Standards and 
Organisation Act (Wales) 2013 and the School Organisation Code that Caerphilly County 
Borough Council having consulted such persons as required, propose to:  
 

1. Extend the age range of Rhymney Comprehensive School, Mill Field, Abertysswg, 
Rhymney NP22 5XF from 11 – 18 to 3 – 18.   

2. Discontinue the new Abertysswg/Pontlottyn Primary School, Mill Field, Abertysswg, 
Rhymney NP22 5XF. 

 
The schools are currently maintained by Caerphilly County Borough Council. 
 
Caerphilly County Borough Council undertook a period of consultation before deciding to 
publish this proposal. A consultation report containing a summary of the issues raised by 
consultees, the Council’s response to these queries and the views of Estyn are available 
at http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Schools-and-learning/21st-Century-Schools 
 
It is proposed to implement the proposal on 1st January 2018.  
 
Caerphilly County Borough Council will be the admission authority. It is not proposed that the 
admission arrangements to the school will make any provision for selection by aptitude or ability.  
The admission number for Reception to Year 6 when the proposal has been implemented will be 
34 and for year 7 to 13 when the proposal has been implemented will be 209.  
 
At primary phase, the school will have capacity for 240 full-time pupils plus nursery. At 
secondary phase the school will have capacity to provide for 1185 pupils.  
 
Admission to the school will be via automatic transfer for full-time pupils on roll as at January 
2018 at Rhymney Comprehensive and Abertysswg/Pontlottyn Primary (subject to parental 
preference). All other admissions will be via the Council’s School Admission Policy.  
 
The catchment areas for the Rhymney 3 -18 school will be the same catchment area as the current 
Rhymney Comprehensive and Abertysswg/Pontlottyn School. 
  
Transport arrangements will be in line with Caerphilly County Borough Council’s Home to 
School Travel Policy.  
 
Within a period of 28 days after the date of publication of this proposal, that is to say by the 5th 
June, 2017, any person may object to the proposal.  
 
Objections should be sent to the The Chief Education Officer, Caerphilly County Borough 
Council, Ty Penallta, Tredomen Parc, Ystrad Mynach, CF82 7PG or email rhymney3-
18school@caerphilly.gov.uk  Support of the proposal can also be sent to the above address or 
email. 
Signed: Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer.  Dated: 8th May, 2017. Page 58

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Schools-and-learning/21st-Century-Schools
mailto:rhymney3-18school@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:rhymney3-18school@caerphilly.gov.uk


Explanatory Notes:  
(This note does not form part of the Notice but is intended to explain its general meaning)  
(i) It is intended to establish a Rhymney 3-18 school by extending the age range of Rhymney 
Comprehensive School from 11-18 to 3-18.  The new school will incorporate the new 
Abertysswg/Pontlottyn Primary School. All pupils on roll at the 2 schools (Rhymney 
Comprehensive and Abertysswg/Pontlottyn Primary) as at 1St January 2018 will be guaranteed a 
place at the school (subject to any parental preference).  
 
(ii) Prospective pupils (including nursery pupils transferring to full-time education) will need to 
apply for a place at the new school in line with the Council’s Admission Policy. The Council’s 
most current School Admissions Policy can be viewed on the Council’s 
website: http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Schools-and-learning/Admissions-and-
appeals/Starting-school-booklet 
 
(iii) It is intended that the new school will open on 1st January 2018. 
 
(iv) The reasons for the proposal are set out in the consultation document which is available on  
the Council’s website: http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/Consultations/Abertysswg-and-
Pontlottyn-replacement-school-consu 
 
(v) The Authority’s School Transport policy is available from the Council’s 
website: http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Schools-and-learning/Admissions-and-
appeals/Starting-school-booklet 
 
(vi) Hard copies or alternative versions of all documentation may be obtained upon request from 
School Admissions, Ty Penallta, Tredomen House, Ystrad Mynach CF82 7PG.  
 

Page 59

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Schools-and-learning/Admissions-and-appeals/Starting-school-booklet
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Schools-and-learning/Admissions-and-appeals/Starting-school-booklet
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/Consultations/Abertysswg-and-Pontlottyn-replacement-school-consu
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/Consultations/Abertysswg-and-Pontlottyn-replacement-school-consu
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Schools-and-learning/Admissions-and-appeals/Starting-school-booklet
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Services/Schools-and-learning/Admissions-and-appeals/Starting-school-booklet


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 60



 
 

 
 

 

 

CABINET – 5TH JULY 2017 
 

SUBJECT: CLOSURE OF THE KEY STAGE 3 SPECIALIST RESOURCE BASE FOR 
CHILDREN WITH BEHAVIOURAL, EMOTIONAL AND SOCIAL 
DIFFICULTIES (BESD) AT NEWBRIDGE SCHOOL: OUTCOME OF THE 
FORMAL CONSULTATION PROCESS 

 

REPORT BY: CHIEF EDUCATION OFFICER 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on the response to the Statutory Notice period in relation to the proposal to 

close the key stage 3 specialist resource base (SRB) at Newbridge School and to seek a 
decision on the proposal. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Local Authority has followed procedures outlined in the School Organisation Code (2013) 

to close the key stage 3 SRB in Newbridge School.  As no objections were received during 
the statutory notice period, the final stage in the process is for Cabinet to make a decision on 
the proposal.  

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 SEN Policy and Inclusion Strategy. 
 
3.2 SEN Code of Practice for Wales (2002). 
 
3.3 The report contributes towards the Well-being Goals within the Future Generations Act 

(Wales) 2015, specifically: 
 

 A prosperous Wales as this is about developing a skilled and well educated population; 

 A healthier Wales as this is about maximising peoples physical and well-being;  

 A more equal Wales, as this is about enabling people to fulfil their potential no matter what 
their background or circumstances are.   

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 Cabinet, at its meeting on 18th January 2017, agreed to proceed to a formal consultation 

process in relation to the proposal to close the SRB at Newbridge School.  
 
4.2 A formal consultation process took place between 23rd January 2017 and 15th March 2017.  A 

report on the proposal was discussed at Scrutiny Committee on 14th March 2017.  
 
  

Page 61

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 8



4.3 On 12th April 2017 Cabinet agreed to proceed to Statutory Notice. A Statutory Notice was 
issued on 8th May 2017.  As indicated in the School Organisation Code (2013), all consultees 
were notified and given an opportunity to object to the proposals.  The ‘objection period’ 
finished on 12th June 2017. No objections to the proposals have been received by the Local 
Authority.  

 
4.4 Cabinet are now required to make a decision on the proposal to close the SRB.  
 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 The proposal in this report contributes to the well-being goals as set out in Links to Strategy 

above. It is consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable 
development principle in the Act and more specifically for the principles noted below:  

 

 Long Term – The report recognises the importance of balancing short-term needs with the 
needs to safeguard meeting long-term needs 

 Prevention – We are acting to prevent problems occurring by running a consultation with a 
view to alternative provision  

 Involvement – The consultation recognises the importance of involving people with an 
interest in achieving the outcome and those people reflect the diversity of the area which 
the report addresses. 

 
 Closure of the SRB will provide pupils with the opportunity to access provision more suited to 

their needs.  These provisions will offer academic and vocational courses that will provide 
pupils with skills, which will enhance their chances for employment and promote their broader 
participation in public life.  

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 A Community and Equality Impact Assessment was completed in relation to the proposal. 

This was included in the report to Cabinet on 12th April 2017.  This indicated that that the 
proposal would not have a negative impact on groups of children with protected 
characteristics.  

 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Where the LA maintains a SRB additional funding is allocated to the school. In the case of 

Newbridge School £255,237 is allocated for the Inclusion Centre provision.  The current cost 
per pupil attending the Inclusion Centre is approximately £16,000 per annum.  This is based 
on full capacity of 16 pupils. Alternative provision identified for the current cohort of pupils 
would range from approximately £13,000 - £18,000 per annum, depending on the individual 
needs of the pupils.  Therefore there are no savings associated with this proposal.  

 
 Closure of the Inclusion Centre will mean that the funding will be retained and redirected to 

enhance alternative BESD provisions within the local authority or where necessary utilised to 
fund placements with external providers.  The proposal does not involve any transfer or 
disposal of land and capital funding is not required to implement the proposal.  

 
 The proposed closure of the class will not impact on overall capacity of Newbridge School to 

deliver an appropriate curriculum. 
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 In Caerphilly Local Authority schools hosting specialist resource bases are allocated a sum of 

money to run and manage the provision. Staff for the SRBs are appointed and employed by 

Page 62



the school and paid for via this funding allocation.  If the SRB provision is closed this results in 
the allocated SRB funding being withdrawn.  Staff employed by the school within the SRB 
would then move onto the main school staffing structure.  Should the proposal to close the 
SRB progress this would be the case for the permanent members of staff currently working 
there.  This includes one full time teacher and three teaching assistants.  

 
 If the school’s budgetary position requires the governing body to consider ways of reducing 

costs at a future date that may impact on employees; these staff would be considered 
alongside all other staff at Newbridge School in line with the Workforce Flexibilities Policy 
adopted by the school. 

 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 All responses from consultations have been incorporated in the report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Cabinet are asked to make a decision to formally approve the proposal to close the Key Stage 

3 Specialist Resource Base for children with BESD at Newbridge School.  
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 The provision at Newbridge School is no longer fit for purpose and needs to be revised in 

order to ensure that the additional learning needs of young people with BESD are fully met.  
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013, The School Organisation Code 

(section1.13) 2013. 
 
 
Author: Jacquelyn Elias  
 E-Mail: eliasj@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Mr C. Burns, Interim Chief Executive  

Mrs N. Scammell, Acting Director of Corporate Services & S151 
Mr D. Street, Corporate Director – Social Services 
Mrs C. Harrhy, Corporate Director - Communities 
Cllr P. Marsden, Cabinet Member, Education 
Mrs K. Cole, Chief Education Officer 
Mrs S. Richards , Interim  Head of Service: Planning Strategy and Resources  
Mrs L. Donovan, Acting Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development 
Mrs G. Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
Mrs J. Southcombe, Financial Services Manager 
Mrs L Perry, Head Teacher, Newbridge School 
Mr M. Gray, Chair of Governors, Newbridge School 
Mrs K. Peters, Corporate Policy Manager 
Cllr A. Hussey Newbridge Ward Member  
Cllr L. Jeremiah Newbridge Ward Member 
Cllr G. Johnston, Newbridge Ward Member 

 
Background Papers:   
Report to Cabinet 12th April 2017  
Report to Scrutiny Committee 14th March 2017 
 

Page 63



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 64


	Agenda
	3 Cynhaliwyd y Cabinet ar 21ain Mehefin 2017.
	4 Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru Llywodraethu Da Wrth Benderfynu ar Newidiadau Gwasanaeth Sylweddol  - Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili
	Atodiad 1
	Good governance when determining significant service changes – Caerphilly County Borough Council
	Summary
	Proposals for improvement
	The Council has a clear set of principles for determining service change that support its current vision, but it recognises the need to review its strategic vision and principles
	The Council continues to strengthen its governance and accountability arrangements and these have the potential to assist it to deliver future service change effectively
	Options appraisals are generally sound and improving but there is a need for more consistency in the quality of information included
	The Council’s arrangements to engage stakeholders in service changes have been effective
	The Council monitors the impact of service changes but arrangements are not systematic or transparent
	In recent years, the Council has strengthened its governance and decision-making arrangements and has responded positively to our audit reports



	5 Adolygiad Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru - Cynllunio Arbedion (Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili)
	WAO Report - Savings Planning (Caerphilly County Borough Council)
	CABINET – 5TH July 2017
	SUBJECT: wao Report – Savings planning (caerphilly County Borough Council)
	REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES & S151 oFFICER
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. LINKS TO STRATEGY
	4. THE REPORT
	5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	9. CONSULTATIONS
	10. RECOMMENDATIONS
	11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	12. STATUTORY POWER
	Appendices:


	WAO Report - Savings Planning (Caerphilly County Borough Council) Appendix 1
	Savings Planning – Caerphilly County Borough Council
	Summary
	Proposals for improvement
	The Council has an effective and improving savings planning approach which is supporting future financial resilience
	Context

	Savings achievement 2015-16
	The Council has reported achievement of 96% of its planned 2015-16 savings in year and can demonstrate that individual savings have been delivered
	What good looks like
	What we found


	Financial planning arrangements
	The Council has an effective corporate framework for financial planning and whilst the Council has well considered savings plans, some savings proposals are insufficiently developed when the budget is agreed
	What good looks like
	What we found


	Savings Plan 2016-17
	The Council has detailed savings plans and is forecasting that 96% of its 2016-17 savings plan will be achieved in year
	What good looks like
	What we found





	6 Alldro Dros Dro ar gyfer 2016/17
	Provisional Outturn for 2016-17
	CABINET – 5TH July 2017
	SUBJECT: PROVISIONAL OUTTURN FOR 2016/17
	REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES & S151 oFFICER
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. LINKS TO STRATEGY
	4. THE REPORT
	Council Tax Collection – (£1.642m Surplus)
	General Fund Capital Programme

	5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	9. CONSULTATIONS
	10. RECOMMENDATIONS
	11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	12. STATUTORY POWER
	Appendices: -


	Provisional Outturn for 2016-17 Appendix A
	APPENDIX A

	Provisional Outturn for 2016-17 Appendix B
	UMOVEMENT ON GENERAL FUND


	7 Ysgol Rhymni 3-18: Canlyniad o'r Hysbysiad Statudol
	Rhymney 3-18 School - Outcome of the Statutory Notice
	CABINET – 5TH July 2017
	SUBJECT: rhymney 3-18 school: outcome of the STATUTORY NOTICE
	REPORT BY: interim CHIEF EXECUTIVE
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. LINKS TO STRATEGY
	4. THE REPORT
	5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	9. CONSULTATIONS
	10. RECOMMENDATIONS
	11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	12. STATUTORY POWER

	Rhymney 3-18 School - Outcome of the Statutory Notice Appendix 1

	8 Cau Canolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol Cyfnod Allweddol 3 ar gyfer plant gydag Anawsterau Ymddygiadol, Emosiynol a Chymdeithasol yn Ysgol Trecelyn: Canlyniad y Broses Ymgynghori Ffurfiol.

